Biennial report 2013 - 2014









Production: Aging Research Center

Cover photos: Copyright Grafvision 2013 (used under license CREATISTA 2013 (used under license from iStockhophoto.com).

Contents

Message from the director

5 Introduction

Organization 7

- Organization and leadership 8
- 12 Collaboration around the world
- 14 Guest researchers

17 Research

- 19 Research infrastructure
- 20 Scientific production in numbers
- 21 Research major findings in brief

33 Education

41 Additional achievements

- 42 Career advancements
- 42 New appointments at KI
- 43 Appointments to commissions of trust outside KI
- 43 Awards

45 Scientific outreach

- 46 Clinical and societal impact
- 47 Communication and dissemination of research findings
- 48 Selection of outreach activities and events
- 50 ARC in the media

53 Finance, funding, and future plans

- 57 Appendix
- 58 Publications
- 72 International forum
- 74 Guest researchers
- 75 Overview of number of employees per sector and per level

Message from the director

Two years have passed since our last report, two intensive years rich in exciting scientific findings, implementation of new research lines, and further expansion of our center. At moments like this, it is important to pause, look back, and consider our achievements. I have had the pleasure of leading ARC since 2007, and as with previous biennial reports, on this occasion I am pervaded by a feeling of pride and happiness. No matter which parameters we look at, we are doing our job well. We produce high-quality research, have an impact on society, and—I believe—contribute to better health for old people. In just the last two years, we have accomplished a great deal. We have completed several studies published in high impact journals, consolidating our national and international profile in the field of aging research. We have followed several PhD students up to completion of their graduate programs. We have employed two new professors and new lecturers, opened a new lab, and developed larger national and international networks. Finally, our budget has grown substantially.

In 2000, when ARC was first established, we were a small group of enthusiastic researchers highly motivated to build a new center in Sweden to increase our opportunities for internationally competitive science. In the last decade and a half, we have actively participated in the development of the research field and have grown along with it. We have invested in a serious effort to recruit and train a new generation of top-level scholars who are passionate about aging research. At the same time as our mid-career researchers are becoming leaders in their fields, the mean age at ARC is growing younger—a good sign for the future of ARC and the future of aging research in Sweden. Organizationally and in terms of personnel, ARC has matured as we have grown. We have modified our internal organization to keep pace with our expansion and have made concrete, consistent efforts to involve the new generation of aging researchers in the workings and administration of the center, because they are ARC's future.

Finally, last but not least, in spite of our growth—ARC now has almost 90 employees—we have preserved a warm and friendly atmosphere. When you come to our center, you will find hard workers who stay at their computers even late into the evening, and you can often hear discussions and challenging questions, but also lots of laughs. We are convinced that our social atmosphere, accumulated research experience, and growing expertise will help us achieve our future goals and increase our impact in the scientific and clinical communities as well as in society.



Photo: Tom Bellander

Lairo Letre

Laura Fratiglioni Director of ARC



The Aging Research Center (ARC) was established in 2000 by Karolinska Institutet (KI) and Stockholm University. It is a "Center of Excellence" supported by two consecutive grants from the Swedish Research Council for Health, Working Life and Welfare (Forte).

ARC is a physical center that shares premises with its closest collaborators, the Stockholm Gerontology Research Center (*Äldrecentrum*, supported by Stockholm City and the Stockholm County Council) and the Swedish Dementia Centre (*Svenskt Demenscentrum*, supported by the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare). This close proximity facilitates the sharing of research findings with an audience beyond academia. Together with the two other centers, ARC supports the aging research magazine, *Äldre i Centrum*.

ARC is internationally renowned for its research on the health status of older adults, trends and inequality among old people, brain aging, and prevention of dementia. The research activities are characterized by:

1. A focus on health in aging, the goal of which is preventing, postponing, or decreasing morbidity and disability in old age.

2. A multidisciplinary approach that includes medicine, social gerontology, psychology, and epidemiology.

3. Creation of large databases from population-based studies on aging and health.

4. Access to other large databases on aging via national and international collaboration.

5. Integration of epidemiological and social science studies with clinical and molecular work.

6. Contribution to improved treatment and care of elderly persons.

7. Special attention to neuroscience with focus on neural correlates of cognitive functions and prevention of brain aging.

8. Implementation of intervention studies to prevent cognitive decline, dementia, and multimorbidity.

Since January 2008, the research environment has been strengthened by the creation of the Graduate Research School on Health and Aging, which is also supported by Forte. The school uses the competencies of partners at multiple universities across Sweden to give PhD students a theoretically and methodologically multidisciplinary background.

Vision and mission

ARC envisions a world in which all people can age with dignity and security through improvements in health, equal access to the best social and medical services, and full integration in society.

ARC's mission is to understand the biomedical and psychological aspects of the aging process in relation to social and physical contexts across the entire lifespan. Our ultimate goal is to improve the health and well-being of older individuals by meeting the challenges and embracing the opportunities presented by the aging population.



Organization

Organization and leadership

ARC is a center within KI; it is part of the Department of Neurobiology, Care Sciences and Society (NVS). It is led by a board that includes representatives from Forte, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm University, and the Stockholm Gerontology Research Center as well as other Swedish universities.

The responsibility for scientific, organizational, and financial issues, including those related to staff, external contractors, and changes in administrative staff, is shared by the members of the Steering group, which is led by ARC's director. ARC's steering group consists of ARC's director, Laura Fratiglioni; the Division Head; Kristina Johnell; the Deputy Head of Division, Jonas Persson; senior

representatives from each sector; and three junior research representatives. This group meets once a month. Daily decisions and actions regarding promotion, finances, staff, and work environment are made by the Executive group.

ARC has a yearly planning day (ARC day) where both scientific updates are presented and organizational issues are discussed. The sectors are also presenting new research findings, discuss collaboration, and socialize on retreats which are organized regularly. At the ARC Junior Researcher Group retreat, graduate students and post-docs meet every year to work on collaboration, give updates on the latest research, and practice their presentation skills.

ALL AT ARC



Members of the Aging Research Center.

BOARD



Back row: Jonas Persson, Chatrin Engbo, Gabriel Romanus, Barbro Westerholm, and Bengt Winblad. Front row: Bo Malmberg, Sven Britton, Anne Ekdahl, Laura Fratiglioni, and Kristina Johnell

2013

MEMBERS

Bo Malmgren, Professor, SU, Chair Nancy Pedersen, Professor, KI, Vice Chair Marta Szebehely, Professor, SU Cecilia Magnusson, Professor, KI Anne Ekdahl, MD, Chair of the Swedish Geriatric Association Gabriel Romanus, former Member of Parliament Måns Rosén, Director, the Swedish Council on Technology Assessment in Health Care Barbro Westerholm, Member of Parliament Chatrin Engbo, Director, Stockholm Gerontology Center

ADIUNCT MEMBERS

Angel Cedazo-Minguez, Professor, Acting Head of Department Maria Eriksdotter, Professor, Head of Department, NVS, KI Anders Kottorp, Professor, NVS, KI Laura Fratiglioni, Professor, Director, Head of Division, ARC Bengt Winblad, Professor, Co-director, ARC Kristina Johnell, Associate Professor, Deputy Head of Division, ARC

Miia Kivipelto, Professor, Deputy Head of Division, ARC

2014

MEMBERS

Bo Malmgren, Professor, SU, Chair Nancy Pedersen, Professor, KI, Vice Chair Marta Szebehely, Professor, SU Cecilia Magnusson, Professor, KI Anne Ekdahl, MD, Chair of the Swedish Geriatric Association Gabriel Romanus, former Member of Parliament Sven Britton, previous Member of Parliament, Senior Professor, KI Barbro Westerholm. Member of Parliament Chatrin Engbo, Director, Stockholm Gerontology Center ADIUNCT MEMBERS

Maria Eriksdotter, Professor, Head of Department, NVS, KI Anders Kottorp, Professor, NVS, KI Laura Fratiglioni, Professor, Director, ARC Bengt Winblad, Professor, Co-director, ARC Kristina Johnell, Associate Professor, Head of Division, ARC Jonas Persson, Associate Professor, Deputy Head of Division, ARC

SECTOR MEDICINE



Back row: Kristina Johnell (Head of Division), Johan Fastbom, Weili Xu, Lucas Morin, Anna-Karin Welmer, Laura Fratiglioni (Director), Linda Rettenwander, Anna Marseglia, Francesca Mangialasche, Hui-Xin Wang, Rui Wang, and Barbara Caracciolo.

Front row: Giola Santoni, Krister Håkansson, Debora Rizzuto, Emerald Heiland, and Mozhu Ding. The sector is led by: Laura Fratiglioni, Johan Fastbom, Kristina Johnell, and Miia Kivipelto.

SECTOR PSYCHOLOGY



Back row: Bárbara Avelar Pereira, Jonna Nilsson, Neda Kaboodvand, Yvonne Brehmer,
George Samrani, Alexandra Pantzar, Dominika Seblova, Benjamín Garzón, Alexander Lebedev,
Alexandra Ek, Nina Becker, Grégoria Kalpouzos, Claudio Brozzoli, and Alireza Salami.
Front row: Cecilia Stenfors, Goran Papenberg, Lars Bäckman, Erika Jonsson Laukka, and Jonas
Persson (Deputy Head of Division). The sector is led by: Lars Bäckman and Martin Lövdén.

SECTOR SOCIAL GERONTOLOGY



Back row: Johan Rehnberg, Hanna Berndt, Stefan Fors, Pär Schön, Susanne Kelfve, Neda Agahi, Josephine Heap, Harpa Sif Eyjólfsdóttir, Alexander Darin Mattsson, and Linda Hols-Salén.
Front row: Johan Fritzell, Carin Lennartsson, Ingemar Kåreholt, Marti Parker, och Lena Dahlberg. The sector is led by: Johan Fritzell, Carin Lennartsson, and Marti Parker.

ADMINISTRATIVE AND TECHNICAL STAFF



Vanessa Suthat, Kimberly Kane, Lena Ragert-Blomgren, Johanna Bylund, Cecilia Annerholm, Alexandra Ek, Maria Wahlberg, and Maria Yohuang.

Please note that not all members of staff were present when the photos were taken.

ioto: Maria Yohuar

Collaboration around the world

ARC has collaborators in Sweden, Europe, Asia, Australia, North America, and South America.



EU consortia where ARC researchers are involved:

- EIT Health, a node in the EU granted KIC network Knowledge Innovation Communities
- The European Study of Cohorts for Air Pollution Effects (ESCAPE)
- The European Prevention of Alzheimer's Dementia (EPAD)
- Healthy Ageing Through Internet Counselling in the Elderly (HATICE)
- EU Joint Programme Neurodegenerative Disease Research (JPND)
- Multidimensional Prognostic Indices (MPI-age)
- New dietary strategies addressing the specific needs of the elderly population for healthy ageing in Europe (NU-AGE)





Guest researchers - highlights

ARC has guest researchers from all over the world. In this section, the experiences of a selection of our guest researchers are highlighted. A complete list of guest researchers from 2013 to 2014 is included in an appendix at the end of the report.

MARYAM ZIAEI PhD student, School of Psychology, University of Queensland

"I came to ARC to visit Associate Professor Jonas Persson and continue working with him on one of my PhD projects, which focuses on emotion–cognition interactions in young and older adults. During my visit I also started new collaborations and learned more about methods for analyzing fMRI data. Also, and importantly, I received very constructive feedback on my ongoing work. The friendly, welcoming, and inclusive environment of ARC helped me make new friends with researchers in the aging field and share my experience with them. I am hoping to continue my collaboration with researchers at ARC and visit the center again in the near future."



ROSS ANDEL Associate Professor, School of Aging Studies, University of South Florida

"I visited ARC between June 8 and 18, 2014. During my stay, I met with several collaborators working at ARC (e.g., Dr. Kåreholt), as well as those from elsewhere but working at ARC at the same time as I was (e.g., Professor Silverstein from the University of Syracuse). In addition, I scheduled multiple meetings with my doctoral students at ARC. Finally, I gave a presentation entitled "Sugar and Cognition: Why Sweetening Your Life May Make Your Brain Sour" in which I discussed some of my recent findings regarding the influence of blood glucose on cognitive aging using Swedenbased data. As every year, I immensely enjoyed my time at ARC. I enjoy the setup where a great number of researchers are seated within a small area, thus facilitating discussions and collaboration."



BARBARA WIMMER PhD student, Monash University

"From the beginning of June to the end of October 2014, I visited the ARC as a guest PhD student from Monash University, Melbourne, Australia. Under the supervision of Associate Professor Kristina Johnell, I had the chance to investigate various aspects of medication regimen complexity in the Swedish National Study on Aging and Care in Kungsholmen (SNAC-K), including factors associated with medication regimen complexity in older people and medication selfadministration problems in older people in Sweden. The very friendly and supportive atmosphere at ARC, the interdisciplinary composition, the diversity and high quality of presentations and continuing education, and an amazing warm and light summer were highlights of my stay. Very special thanks to all who made my time in Stockholm a great experience!"



ENRICO MOSSELLO MD, Research Unit of Medicine of Ageing, Department of Experimental and Clinical Medicine, University of Florence

"I was at the Aging Research Center for 3 months after a lucky meeting and a warm invitation from Professor Laura Fratiglioni. The idea was to analyze epidemiological data gathered in Stockholm to better understand the research question I had as a clinical researcher and medical doctor practicing psychogeriatrics: what is the effect of background personality on aging-related health outcomes?

My stay in Stockholm was truly engaging. Under the guidance of Professor Laura Fratiglioni and Hui-Xin Wang and working in cooperation with Almira Osmanovic-Thunström and Sara Angleman, I directly experienced how data are gathered and analyzed in a large epidemiological study. I also had a chance to improve my ability to perform statistical analysis and to present them in a scientific paper. I enjoyed the extraordinary organization of the research setting, the lovely welcome from all colleagues, the stimulating discussions mixing clinical issues and research methodology, and the pleasant stay in the city."



ROGER KELLER CELESTE Senior Lecturer, Department of Preventive and Social Dentistry, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul

"I visited ARC between January 1 and February 28, 2014. During my stay, I worked together with Professor Fritzell in the social gerontology group on a project studying inequalities in oral health over the life course. My collaboration with Johan started at the State University of Rio de Janeiro in 2008. At ARC I also organized and taught a 2-week course on structural equation modelling. Students from both ARC and CHESS (Stockholm University), attended the course.

This was my first visit to ARC, and I was very impressed by the nice environment and the warm and productive atmosphere. It was notable that professors, researchers, and PhD students in the social gerontology group worked close together. This kind of working environment facilitates exchanges of ideas and insights, and I plan to continue research collaborations and student exchanges between ARC and my university."



ÅKE WAHLIN

Professor in Gerontology, licensed psychologist, Institute of Gerontology, School of Health Sciences, Jönköping University

"In 2012 and 2013 I was on a 1-year sabbatical. Between December 1, 2012, and June 31, 2013, I was kindly invited to work as visiting professor at ARC. For me it was a happy reunion because I had been an employee at ARC between 1990 and 2003. During my stay, I was generously taken care of by Lars Bäckman's research group. During this time I worked mainly with my BioAge projects and also wrote the application for a professorship in gerontology. As a result of that successful application I have been employed at Jönköping University since July, 2013."



Research

Research

Research infrastructure at ARC

In this section, a selection of research findings from the past two years will be briefly presented. This section also contains information about research infrastructure, scientific production, and data sets. Researchers from ARC continue to produce a high number of published papers, and many of them are published in high impact journals. Results from the ongoing population-based Swedish National study on Aging and Care in Kungsholmen (SNAC-K), and an ongoing intervention study, the Finnish Geriatric Intervention Study to Prevent Cognitive Impairment and Disability (FINGER) will be presented. During the past two years, a new experimental laboratory for studies on cognitive intervention and neural plasticity (Hjärnlabbet; the Brain Lab) has been founded. Several new projects have also been initiated, including a project on Cognition, Brain and Aging (COBRA) and a project that investigates accumulation of iron in the brain, and its implications for cognitive functions and aging. Initial results from these projects will be described. Much research at ARC relies on information from large databases, and new data was collected in the longitudinal Swedish Panel Study of Living Conditions of the Oldest Old (SWEOLD).

Alexandra Ek, Maria Eriksdotter (Head of Department), Laura Fratiglioni, and Martin Lövdén at the opening of the Brain Lab (Hjärnlabbet).

ARC plays a major role in large ongoing studies of European Dementia Prevention Initiative; FINGER; the aging, including SNAC-K, SWEOLD, and the Swedish Betula Project; Dementia in Swedish Twins; Healthy Centenarian Survey (part of the Five Country Oldest Old Aging Through Internet Counselling in the Elderly; Project, 5-COOP). Information from these databases Multimodal Preventive Trials for Alzheimer's Disease: forms the basis of many of our most important research Towards Multinational Strategies (MIND-AD); the findings. In the SNAC-K project, ARC has also started Swedish Level of Living Survey; and the Luxemburg a population-based magnetic resonance imaging study, Income Study. SNAC-K MRI. The af Jochnick Center initiated and participates in the groundbreaking COBRA project.

ARC collaborates closely with researchers responsible for other large ongoing studies: the SNAC-K Care System Study; the Kungsholmen Project; Cardiovascular Risk Factors, Aging and Dementia (CAIDE); the



At ARC we use various national registers, including the Swedish Prescribed Drug Register, the National Patient Register, and the Cause of Death Register. Located at the National Board of Health and Welfare, the Swedish Prescribed Drug Register is one of the largest pharmacoepidemiological databases in the world.





Scientific production in numbers

Number of articles, books, book chapters, reports, and PhD theses are reported below by research area.

Research area	Original articles	Review articles	Book chapters	Reports	PhD theses
A Longevity, morbidity, and functioning	38	3	2	_	1
B Treatment and care of elderly persons	18	2	4	3	-
C Health trends and inequality	29	1	7	1	2
D Brain aging	95	13	4	2	1
E Miscellaneous	17	1	_	-	-

Figure 1. Number of articles, books, book chapters, reports, and PhD theses reported by research area.

Research – major findings in brief

A complete list of references cited in this section is provided in the appendix.

Research area 1: Longevity, morbidity, and functioning

Despite its intrinsic positive nature, the aging of the population poses challenging questions, such as how we can achieve not only longer but also healthier lives. Our goal is to increase knowledge regarding the complex picture of health in older adults, to describe their health status, and to monitor health trajectories during aging. We take many dimensions of health into account, including medical conditions, medication, perceived health, physical functioning, mobility, and well-being.

Paths toward healthy aging

As the population ages, elderly people are becoming an increasingly important group that merits special attention with regard to health and social issues. Lifestyles affect survival chances at all ages, but the consequences of poor lifestyle behaviors may differ between elderly people and young adults. In a systematic review, we summarized the evidence regarding the impact of lifestyle behaviors on survival among elderly people (Rizzuto et al. 2014). The benefits of healthy lifestyles (e.g., no smoking, normal weight, physical activity) and social support are still present in older adults. A healthy lifestyle, even at old age, leads to better physical function and decreased susceptibility to disease, which is one of the key factors to longevity. Although several specific determinants of human longevity have been identified, the underlying social and biological pathways remain to be clarified. It is clear that none of the factors identified to date is necessary or sufficient to determine how each individual will age; people may achieve exceptional longevity in multiple ways by engaging in different combinations of healthy behaviors. The mechanisms behind longevity are likely to involve the complex interplay among demographic,

physiological, behavioral, and biological factors and their association with different health outcomes. Moreover, not only do biological, social, and psychological factors contribute to health in aging, but they are also active across the whole lifespan (Figure 2).



Figure 2. An integrated life-course model to explain health and survival to old ages (adapted from Rizzuto et al. 2014).

Longer telomeres (located at the ends of the chromosomes) have been associated with a longer lifespan. We investigated the association between a polymorphism (T/C) of a telomere gene (*hTERT*) and longevity in two cohorts of older adults, one from the Kungsholmen Project and the other from SNAC-K (Kalpouzos et al. 2014). In both cohorts, female T/T carriers aged 75 years or older lived 2 to 3 years longer than the female C/C carriers. This effect, possibly due to a synergistic effect between genetic background and the life-long exposure to endogenous estrogen, was not present in men or younger old people.

Social conditions and health behaviors at middle age affect late-life health

The likelihood of living a long and healthy life is, in part, shaped by social conditions experienced throughout the life course. We have investigated the relationship between earlier life environmental conditions and late-life health. First, we examined trajectories of social engagement from midlife to old age and late-life disability. We found that both decreasing levels of social activities and continuously low levels of social activities are associated with increased risk of disability (Agahi et al. 2013). Second, we analyzed how changes in smoking habits over a long period were associated with progression to health problems from midlife to old age. We found that smokers, and even former smokers, who survived into old age, appear to be at an increased risk for impaired mobility, musculoskeletal pain, and psychological distress, which can diminish quality of life and increase care needs (Agahi & Shaw 2013; Andel et al. 2014). Finally, we explored the associations between physical and psychosocial work environment in midlife and health in late life. The results show that both poor psychosocial and physical work environments in midlife are associated with an increased likelihood of psychological distress, musculoskeletal pain, and physical impairment during old age (Nilsen et al. 2014). This finding highlights the detrimental long-term health consequences of work-related stress.

Previous research suggests that vascular risk factors and related vascular diseases impair functional independence in older adults. Data from SNAC-K showed that the aggregation of multiple vascular risk factors or related cardiovascular diseases are associated with an increased likelihood of mobility limitation, and that the association may vary by age and *APOE* ε 4 allele status (Welmer et al. 2013). This finding has been confirmed in a study of a Chinese elderly population, which further revealed that the association between functional dependence and the burden of vascular risk factors is partially mediated by atherosclerosis of large cerebral and peripheral arteries (Welmer et al. 2014).

Research area 2: Treatment and care of elderly persons

The research in geriatric pharmacoepidemiology at ARC aims to understand and improve drug treatment in older people. This work focuses on the quality and inequality of older people's drug therapy, drug treatment in persons with dementia, and monitoring drug use over time. We develop analytical methods for studying drug use and for reviewing drug treatment in older patients. We also contribute to the development of indicators for assessing the quality of drug use and to information technology solutions to help prescribers make optimal decisions. We collaborate closely with the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare.

With regard to health and social care services for the elderly population, we focus on how people's needs are met. We also investigate the social policy implications of increasing longevity and the increasing number of elderly persons with ill-health and complex health problems in societies worldwide.

Quality of medication use in elderly people

In collaboration with researchers involved in the Swedish Dementia Registry, we found that patients who use anti-dementia drugs of the cholinesterase inhibitor type are treated with less antipsychotics and anxiolytics than patients who do not take cholinesterase inhibitors. Our results suggest that treatment with cholinesterase inhibitors may reduce the behavioral disturbances characteristic of patients with Alzheimer disease (Fereshtehnejad et al. 2014).

In collaboration with researchers from Australia, we found that older hospitalized persons with high medication regimen complexity are more likely than those with lower medication regimen complexity to be discharged to nursing home settings (Wimmer et al. 2014).

Further, we have observed that access to specialized prescribing of psychotropics is unequally distributed across socioeconomic groups of older adults in Sweden. Those with a higher level of education were more likely to be prescribed psychotropic drugs by psychiatrists and geriatricians than those with lower level of education (Wastesson et al. 2014).

We have presented a hypothetical economic model of disease-modifying treatment for people with Alzheimer disease, which shows that such a treatment would lead to high costs for society, both because of the costs of the treatment itself and the prolonged survival of people who are treated (Sköldunger et al. 2013).

In a collaborative project with researchers from Sahlgrenska University hospital, we found that the number of drugs increased by two per person 3 months after transition from ordinary prescriptions to multi-dose drug



Figure 3. The proportion of patients who had potentially harmful drug treatment according to indicators of prescribing quality. Longitudinal results for 30,922 individuals at 3-month intervals before and after the transition to multi-dose drug dispensing (index date) (adapted from Wallerstedt et al. 2013).

dispensing (Wallerstedt et al. 2013). This increase was accompanied by a decrease in the quality of drug use and a future lower rate of change in drug use (Figure 3).

In a project at the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare, we compiled data from scientific studies and Swedish registers about the prevalence and nature of adverse drug reactions that led to hospital admissions of elderly people (Socialstyrelsen 2014). The most important finding is that the majority of hospitalizations due to adverse drug reactions are caused by a limited number of drugs that result in a limited number of symptoms or disorders, many of which are preventable. This suggests that instruments may be developed to detect and prevent adverse drug reactions leading to hospitalizations.

Research area 3: Health trends and inequality

Using national registers and nationally representative studies, ARC researchers investigate whether older people are healthier now than in the past. In other words, we try to understand whether older people are living more years in good health or more years with disease and disability. We use various measures of health, including medical diagnoses, symptoms, and functional disabilities. In addition, we examine older people's physical and mental function and their ability to carry out everyday activities, all of which are important in the planning of health and social care systems. We also study how opportunities and circumstances in life, which are not equal for everyone, have changed over time.

Trends in the health of the aging population

An important public health issue is whether the increases in life expectancy have been accompanied by decreases in the prevalence of health problems and functional dependence. We have investigated this issue in a series of studies. First, by analyzing data from SWEOLD (Lennartsson, et al. 2014), a nationally representative sample of people aged 77 years and older in Sweden, we found an increasing prevalence of pain, psychological problems, and impaired mobility; decreasing lung function; and stable self-rated health and physical function from 1992 through 2011. Interestingly, despite the increases in health problems, the proportion of people who

reported a need for help with basic activities of daily living (ADL) decreased during the period (Fors et al. 2013; 2015). Second, we examined the temporal trends in ADL disability and mortality in urban and rural people in Sweden aged 75 years and older using data from the Kungsholmen Project and SNAC in Kungsholmen and Nordanstig. We found that both prevalence and incidence of disability in ADL remained relatively stable from 1990 through 2010 in the urban population, and the results suggested a trend toward slow and gradual decline in both measurements. Importantly, mortality risks remained steady among disabled persons but decreased among people without disability (Angleman et al. 2014) (Figure 4). This result suggests that increases in life expectancy might have partly been driven by longer survival of functionally independent people. In addition, in the rural population of Nordanstig, we found that from 1995 to 2003 the prevalence of disability was stable in men but increased in women. There was no difference in survival between disabled and non-disabled persons (Sjölund et al. 2014). Finally, in a collaborative study analyzing data from a national survey in China, we found that the prevalence of ADL disability decreased in Chinese older adults during the 1990s and 2000s. We also found that cardiovascular diseases, especially stroke, became less disabling over time, which might have contributed to the favorable trend in ADL disability (Liang et al. 2014).

100 ★81-84-disability -D-90-99-no disability -O-87-no disability -A-81-84-no disability 90 70 60 50 40 P=.04 30 20 10

1991-1993 1994-1996 1997-1998 1999-2000 2001-2004 2004-2007 2007-2010

Figure 4. Sex-adjusted age-specific 3-year mortality (per 100) by disability status from 1991 to 2010 (adapted from Angleman et al. 2014).

Why do socioeconomic inequalities in health persist in old age?

Socioeconomic inequalities in health are remarkably robust across countries, over time, and across numerous health indicators, even in people of advanced age (Fritzell 2014). In the SNAC-K study, we found that a higher level of education was associated with better performance in tests of balance, timed chair stands, and walking speed in people aged 60 to 80. Further analyses suggested that a higher level of education was associated with better grip strength among female manual workers and with better balance and walking speed among non-manual workers (Welmer et al. 2013). Using data from SWEOLD, we have shown that older women had more health problems than older men and that people with a lower level of education had more health problems than people with a higher level of education; the disparities were observed in all age groups and across a wide range of health indicators (Figure 5; Fors et al. 2013; Fors & Thorslund 2015).

Health inequalities are shaped by lifelong processes. Thus, it is critical to understand the issue of health inequalities from a life course perspective. We conducted cross-national, comparative research highlighting the importance of poverty to explain cross-national variation in mortality risks (Fritzell et al. 2015). We also examined the association between socioeconomic conditions during different stages of the life course

> Educational disparities in musculoskeletal pain among the oldest old in Sweden 1992-2011



Research

and health in later life. We found that adverse social and financial conditions in childhood and midlife were associated with development of functional health problems in later life. The associations were largely mediated by factors such as educational attainment and work environment (Agahi et al. 2014; Berndt & Fors 2015; Parker et al. 2013; Rydwik et al. 2013).

A potential explanation for socioeconomic inequalities in late-life health focuses on the role of health-related behaviors. Analyzing the financial, social, and demographic determinants of diet quality among older people in four European Union countries (the United Kingdom, Italy, Sweden, and Finland), we found that diet quality was low on average and heterogeneous across individuals. A higher level of education, living with somebody, and female gender were associated with better diet quality across the four countries (Irz et al. 2014). Our research also revealed that socioeconomic differences in mobility and cognitive impairment among older people in Sweden could partly be attributed to social gradients in smoking and obesity (Fors et al. 2013). Finally, findings from the US older population suggest that behavioral risk factors such as smoking and physical inactivity contribute to socioeconomic inequalities in health (Shaw et al. 2014).



Figure 5. Crude prevalence of musculoskeletal pain by educational level in Sweden, 1992-2011 (adapted from Fors & Thorslund 2015)

Research area 4: Brain aging

People's individual cognitive capabilities differ, and differences widen as people age. At ARC, we focus on understanding the reasons for these differences. Why do some 80-year-olds have better memory than 35-year-olds? Why do some people maintain a youthful brain but others develop dementia? How does behavior over the life course affect brain changes? Is it possible to slow, stop, or reverse cognitive decline by mental and/or physical training or changes in diet? Several factors typically interact to cause faster cognitive decline and dementia, and some factors can protect against cognitive deterioration.

Genetic influences on brain functioning become stronger with increasing age and decreasing brain resources Heritability studies have documented that genetic influences on cognitive performance and decline increase in old age. Given these associations, we investigated the effects of common genetic variations on brain integrity and cognitive functioning in older adults without dementia. Our cross-sectional and longitudinal data suggest that effects of genetic variations on cognition become stronger as people age (e.g., Ghisletta et al. 2014), whereas genetic effects in younger adults are smaller or undetectable. Furthermore, we documented that genetic effects in old age are particularly strong when carrying two or more disadvantageous genotypes, which may result in interactive genetic effects on cognition (Papenberg et al. 2014). These patterns support the notion that age-related declines in brain resources may magnify effects of genes on cognition. Extending these patterns to the neural level in a functional imaging study, we found lower performance in updating of long-term memories for older carriers of a genetic predisposition associated with less dopamine D2 receptors in the striatum (DRD2/ ANKK1-Taq1a A1-genotype) than in older non-carriers (Persson et al. 2014). In addition, older A1-carriers had less activation in left caudate nucleus, a region critical to updating of memories (Figure 6). None of these effects on brain functioning and behavior were present in younger adults. Similarly, we also reported stronger genetic effects on brain structure in older age (Papenberg et al. 2014). In a population-based sample of adults aged 81 to 87 years, we found that those with a genetic predisposition related to less synaptic dopamine (*COMT* Val heterozygotes) had lower integrity in several white matter tracts than non-carriers (*COMT* Met homozygotes). There were no such associations in two younger age groups (60–66 and 72–78 years).



Figure 6. Brain activation in the left caudate nucleus during long-term memory updating. Older A1-carriers (A+) had significantly less activation in this region than younger adults and older non-carriers (adapted from Persson et al. 2014).

Despite increasing evidence in favor of magnification of genetic effects in aging, we did not find evidence for this pattern in a large population-based study of older adults, likely because many lifestyle and individual-difference factors may overshadow genetic effects (Laukka et al. 2013). Indeed, our data suggest that once additional factors are taken into account, it may be easier to disclose genetic effects in old age. We showed that more physical activity circumvents negative effects of carrying disadvantageous genotypes (associated with Alzheimer disease) on memory for past events (Ferencz et al. 2014). In another study on depression in old age, we found that two memory-related genetic variations affected memory for past events only in older adults with depression. Individuals carrying both risk alleles performed the worst on tests of memory (Pantzar et al. 2014). In contrast, no genetic effects were observed in non-depressed individuals, again suggesting that genetic effects are most easily detected at suboptimal levels of brain functioning.

Taken together, several studies from our lab suggest that effects of common genetic variations on brain functioning may become stronger with increasing adult age or may be most easily detected in populations characterized by lower brain resources. In this way, genetic effects contribute to the increased between-person differences in cognitive and brain aging.

Vascular burden and psychological stress undermine brain integrity

Effects of aging on the structural integrity of the brain have been extensively studied for many years. However, the factors that contribute to the deterioration of structural integrity remain to be found, and longitudinal assessments are still sparse. At ARC, the large database from the SNAC-K population study contains structural neuroimaging data. The database includes measurements of gray and white matter volume and assessments of microstructural and macrostructural white matter integrity.

In our exploration of the factors that contribute to loss of brain integrity in aging, we found that old age, genetic susceptibility (e.g. *APOE* ϵ 4), and increased burden of vascular risk factors (e.g., hypertension, diabetes) are associated with brain pathology. Specifically, we observed that a marker of cerebral small vessel disease (white matter hyperintensities) was associated with reduced brain tissue volume. This association was independent of the aging process, genetic susceptibility, and vascular



risk factors (Wang et al. 2014). Using diffusion tensor imaging, we also investigated the role of vascular risk factors in microstructural white matter integrity. We showed that the aggregation of heavy alcohol consumption, hypertension, diabetes, and current smoking is detrimental to white matter integrity, and that this effect is more pronounced among *APOE* £4 carriers (Wang et al. 2015). We paid special attention to the medial temporal lobe because it is particularly vulnerable to aging and found that negative life events influence the volumes of hippocampus and amygdala. The strongest effects were observed for events experienced in adolescence and old age (Gerritsen et al. 2015). We are currently investigating whether lifestyle factors and inflammation influence brain integrity.

We also investigated the relationships between gray matter and white matter deterioration and cognitive decline. We first showed that among the cognitive domains explored in SNAC-K, only perceptual speed was related to microstructural white matter indices, and solely in participants older than 78 years (Laukka et al. 2013). We further demonstrated a longitudinal relationship between microstructural white matter indices and perceptual speed in the older participants. Decline in perceptual speed was associated with integrity of the corticospinal tract (Figure 7; Lövdén et al. 2014).

> Figure 7. On the left, the corticospinal tract is shown in dark blue on the brain maps. On the right, the graph displays the relationship between change over 2.3 years in integrity of the corticospinal tract (mean diffusivity, which is an index of white matter integrity) and change in perceptual speed performance in participants in the Swedish National Study on Aging and Care in Kungsholmen (adapted from Lövdén et al. 2014).

Finally, using diffusion tensor imaging data from SNAC-K, we showed that reduced integrity of white matter microstructure was associated with exacerbated global cognitive decline (Figure 8; Wang et al. 2015).



Figure 8. Adjusted mean Mini Mental State Examination score over a 7-year period by tertiles of baseline fractional anisotropy and mean diffusivity. A low fractional anisotropy score or a high mean diffusivity score indicates reduced white matter integrity (adapted from Wang et al. 2015).

The strong effect of vascular burden and metabolic disorders in brain structural changes has been confirmed also by other studies of the CAIDE MRI subsample and the participants in the AGES-Reykjavik Study. In the CAIDE subsample, midlife hypertension, but not body mass index or cholesterol, was associated with thinner cortex in all areas of interest examined (Vuorinen et al. 2013). In a second study of the CAIDE MRI subsample, we detected an association between coronary heart disease and 1) thinner cortex in various brain regions and 2) smaller gray matter volume, but only if the coronary heart disease had started at least a decade prior to the MRI examination (Vuorinen et al. 2014). In the AGES-Reykjavik Study of 4206 elderly persons, diabetes was strongly related to cerebral microbleeds, cortical and subcortical infarcts, more white matter lesions, less gray matter, and more global atrophy. Diabetes was also associated with poorer performance on tests of executive function and processing speed. Such deleterious effects of diabetes on cognition were mediated by the structural brain abnormalities (Qiu et al. 2014).

Additionally, a study on serum homocysteine (a sensitive marker of folate and vitamin B12 status) reinforced the hypothesis that vascular mechanisms play a role in brain pathological alterations. Findings from previous studies on the role of homocysteine in Alzheimer disease have been mixed. Post-mortem and MRI data from the population-based Vantaa 85+ Study (n=265, 103 had post-mortem MRI) showed that elevated homocysteine levels are associated with more neurofibrillary tangles, especially in persons who had a dementia diagnosis and cerebral infarcts. MRI data revealed that higher levels of homocysteine were associated with more severe medial temporal lobe atrophy and more severe periventricular white matter hyperintensities (Hooshmand et al. 2013).

Tracing the progression from physical impairment and subjective cognitive impairment to dementia It is still not clear whether subtle physical impairment or cognitive impairment represents the first sign in the path leading to dementia. Using the 6-year follow-up data from SNAC-K on 2938 individuals aged 60+ years, we found that slower walking speed or decline in walking speed (a sign of physical impairment) is associated with an increased likelihood of incident dementia. However, we further found that processing speed (a cognitive measurement) could partly account for the association between slower walking speed and increased risk of dementia (Welmer et al. 2014). These results suggest that slowing of walking speed may occur secondary to slowing of processing speed in the path leading to dementia. In a Swedish Twin Registry study of 11379 individuals aged 65+ years, chronic morbidity, especially multimorbidity, was associated with both subjective cognitive impairment and cognitive impairment without dementia. Multiple mechanisms may be involved in these associations. A twin-cotwin matched case-control analysis suggested that genetic and early-life environmental factors may partially account for the association between chronic diseases and cognitive impairment without dementia but not for the association between chronic disease and subjective cognitive impairment (Caracciolo et al. 2013).

Role of vitamins in late-life cognitive impairment and Alzheimer disease

We found that elevated serum levels of different vitamin E forms are associated with reduced risk of cognitive impairment in older adults, and the association is modulated by concurrent blood cholesterol concentration. This finding suggests that various vitamin E forms might play a role in cognitive impairment (Mangialasche et al. 2013). In the multicenter AddNeuroMed study of 253 persons (81 patients with Alzheimer disease, 86 patients with mild cognitive impairment, and 86 cognitively intact controls), we investigated whether a combination of MRI with plasma vitamin E measures could help us distinguish between healthy controls and persons with either mild cognitive impairment or Alzheimer disease (Mangialasche et al. 2013). In addition, we explored whether this combined measure was useful in predicting conversion from mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer disease after one year. Finally, in a memory clinic-based study of 75 patients (29 with subjective cognitive impairment, 28 with mild cognitive impairment, and 18 with Alzheimer disease), we studied the relationships among plasma vitamin D, cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers of Alzheimer disease, structural brain volumes, and cognitive impairment. We found that lower levels of vitamin D were related to increased likelihood of cognitive impairment. Vitamin D levels were also associated with the Alzheimer disease phenotype, including cerebrospinal fluid levels of beta- amyloid1-42 and brain volumetric measures (Hooshmand et al. 2014).

What are the major risk and protective factors for cognitive impairment and dementia?

This research line is primarily based on the longitudinal databases available at ARC, but in addition, we have developed extensive international collaboration, especially with researchers in the Nordic countries and the United States. In the last 2 years we have been able to confirm the relevance of the following factors for dementia:

Metabolic disorders. By analyzing reimbursement register data in Finland, we showed that individuals with Alzheimer disease are more likely to have a record of diabetes, especially midlife diabetes, than the general population (Tolppanen et al, 2013). Furthermore, the register-based study suggests that patients with Alzheimer dementia have a higher risk of strokes than the general population, especially hemorrhagic strokes, mainly among patients aged <80 years (Tolppanen et al. 2013). The diagnoses of dementia and subtypes in the register database have been validated and were found to be very accurate (Solomon et al. 2014).

Psychological stress. A high level of cynical distrust in later life was associated with increased risk of dementia, especially after adjustment for multiple confounders (Neuvonen et al. 2014). In the population-based Umeå 85+ study, we found that depression was associated with an increased risk of dementia, whereas more frequent social contacts and a higher Mini Mental State Examination score were associated with lower risk (Wallin et al. 2013).

Physical activity. Using the CAIDE database, we first found that a high level of leisure-time physical activities or increase in physical activities after midlife was associated with reduced risk of dementia (Tolppanen et al. 2014). We also found that poor physical fitness at midlife or a decline in physical fitness after midlife was associated with increased risk of dementia (Kulmala et al. 2014).

Multiple factors. We have been able to provide information to help identify people at higher risk of developing dementia. In two international collaborative studies, we found that a composite risk score in middle age or late life that included several self-reported, modifiable risk factors (e.g., education, smoking, alcohol consumption, diabetes, leisure activities) was highly predictive of late-life dementia (Exalto et al. 2014; Anstey et al. 2014). This provides a simple tool to identify people at risk of dementia so that intervention can begin early. Finally, we have shown that high levels of education, increased leisure-time activities, or maintaining vascular health could diminish the risk of dementia due to the *APOE* ɛ4 allele, which demonstrates that genetic risk for dementia can be modified (Ferrari et al. 2013).

Prevention of cognitive decline and dementia: first results *from a population-based intervention study* Previous research has identified several potentially modifiable risk or protective factors for dementia. It is critical to use this information to develop interventions that will delay disease onset (Imtiaz et al. 2014). Indeed, current evidence from multidisciplinary research supports the hypothesis that unhealthy lifestyles and cardiovascular burden play a major role in age-related cognitive decline and dementia, especially when they occur in middle age (Lövdén et al. 2013; Solomon et al. 2014; Qiu et al. 2015). Promoting healthy lifestyles and proper management of cardiovascular risks have been the major strategies for reducing the risk or delaying the onset of cognitive impairment and dementia. FINGER is a multicenter randomized control trial involving 1260 persons aged 60–77 years who are at risk of cognitive decline. The multidomain intervention includes nutritional guidance, physical exercise, cognitive training, social stimulation, and management of metabolic and vascular risk factors (Kivipelto et al. 2013; Ngandu et al. 2014). The primary outcome is change in global cognition as measured with the comprehensive neuropsychological test battery. The first results from FINGER suggest that a multidomain intervention can improve or maintain cognitive functioning in at-risk elderly people from the general population (Ngandu et al. 2015). A 7-year follow-up is planned to evaluate the effects of the multidomain intervention on the incidence of dementia and Alzheimer disease.

Can we maintain cognitive functioning in old age by increasing neurocognitive plasticity? The studies on this topic at ARC focus on understanding plasticity; that is, reactive changes in the brain caused by alterations in experiential demands from the environment. In other words, how are brain and cognition in younger and older age influenced by experience, such as cognitive stimulation, education, and retirement? And what are the brain mechanisms behind the effects of stimulation on cognitive performance in aging? We approach these issues both through intervention (training) studies and with multivariate statistical modeling of data from longitudinal and population-based studies such as SNAC-K. In recent years, our greatest focus has been on examining effects of cognitive training on brain and cognition.

One study on genetic influence showed that carriers of the val allele of the *COMT* polymorphism, which is associated with different levels of the neurotransmitter dopamine in prefrontal cortex, had lower baseline performance and larger performance gains from working memory training than carriers of the met allele (see Figure 9; Bellander et al. 2014). These results are an example of how genes (*COMT*) and experience (training) together shape behavior (cognitive performance). Other work has demonstrated that adults can show effects of



Figure 9. Dopamine is involved in moderating the effects of cognitive training on performance. (A) Training-related improvements on untrained working memory tasks are larger for val/val carriers of the *COMT* gene, who have lower levels of dopamine in the prefrontal cortex, though (B) these individuals have lower performance before the start of training (adapted from Bellander et al. 2014).

cognitive training that last up to 2 years (Schmiedek et al. 2014). Beginning in 2014, we will expand our research activities on this topic and will conduct several large intervention studies that examine the combined effects of cognitive training, non-invasive brain stimulation, and pharmacological interventions on cognitive performance in aging. To this, we have expanded our lab facilities. A 200 m² area (Hjärnlabbet) is now available to collect data for these studies.

In our population-based databases, epidemiological, clinical, and cognitive data are integrated with neuroimaging and neuropathological data, and we are thus able to explore brain mechanisms linking psychosocial, vascular, and nutritional factors to cognitive deterioration in aging.

Preliminary results from the Cognition, Brain, and Aging project (COBRA)

COBRA is a 10-year project with three measurement occasions separated by 5 years. ARC, Umeå University, and the Max Planck Institute in Berlin collaborate in the project. The study sample (n = 182) ranges from 63–67 years of age at baseline. The assessment battery includes PET-derived markers of dopamine D2 receptor densities, structural MRI (gray and white matter structure), functional MRI (networks activated during working memory and resting-state networks), perfusion, a comprehensive cognitive battery (episodic and working memory, speed, implicit learning), a questionnaire on lifestyle activities (physical, mental, and social), and blood sampling for genetics and biomarkers (Figure 10). The chief goal of COBRA is to relate age-related cognitive changes to changes in the brain parameters assessed. Of particular interest is to examine which of the candidate neural correlates of cognitive decline first displays signs of change in old age. Likewise, we seek to determine whether one change in one brain variable is associated with subsequent changes in other brain measures and thus acts as a primary mechanism of age-related decline in brain and cognition. Awaiting longitudinal data, we are focusing on associations between the brain and cognitive data and how these links may be affected

by lifestyles. Preliminary findings suggest that all classes of variables examined in COBRA have good measurement properties. Further, analyses show associations between the dopamine markers and cognitive performance and links among dopamine, functional activation patterns, and cognition.



Figure 10. Study design of the Cognition, Brain, and Aging project. Abbreviations: PET, positron emission tomography; sMRI, structural magnetic resonance imaging; DTI, diffusion tensor imaging; fMRI, functional magnetic resonance imaging.

Iron in the brain: a new project

In 2014, we initiated a new line of research on the deleterious effects of accumulation of iron in the brain on gray matter volume, neural activity, and cognition in aging. A pilot study, conducted in 2014, including 45 healthy younger and older adults, yielded promising results (presented at a conference in 2014). The age-re-lated accumulation of iron in the striatum was associated with less activity in this specific region of the brain when performing a motor-imagery memory task. It was also associated with worse memory performance. The project is currently growing into a longitudinal protocol covering the entire adult life span.

32

Education

Courses

Undergraduate (first cycle) courses

ARC is responsible for the undergraduate course "Society and health" (6 credits) and for the aging section (1.5 credits) of the "Developmental psychology" course, both part of the psychology program at KI. The first course has an epidemiological and a sociological perspective and gives the students the opportunity to learn about health inequalities in different contexts. The second course includes lectures on the effects of healthy and pathological aging on a selection of psychological, medical, and social domains.

Master's (second cycle) courses

ARC researchers are responsible for and involved in several courses and supervise master's projects. ARC is responsible for the course "Health inequalities in the older population" (4.5 credits) in the master's program "Population health: societal and individual perspectives" at Stockholm University. The course takes place every second year and has a life course approach with a specific focus on health inequalities at older ages. ARC is also responsible for "Geriatric epidemiology," a course for the Master program in public health epidemiology at KI. The aim of the course is to provide an overall picture of worldwide population aging and the opportunities and challenges it poses. The course also illustrates the application of modern epidemiological approaches to studying the most common health problems in aging and to critically evaluating the epidemiological literature in aging research.

Doctoral (third cycle) courses

Researchers at ARC are responsible for the doctoral-level course "Application of epidemiological methods in ageing research." The course offers the opportunity to learn epidemiological methods and their applications to research on aging. Different epidemiological methods are presented, and after the course, the students understand the importance of epidemiological approaches in research on aging and health and have an updated understanding of the epidemiology of common geriatric disorders such as Alzheimer disease and Parkinson disease.

"Life-course epidemiology" (4.5 credits) was held at the University of Gothenburg in 2014. The course was arranged by both the EpiLife and the ARC research schools (see below) in collaboration with the Centre for Ageing and Supportive Environments in Lund and Swedish Brain Power, the national network on neurodegenerative diseases. The course, which included both doctoral and postdoctoral students, focused on how factors at different stages of life may affect later health and functional outcomes. The course covered epidemiological and statistical methods related to the life course approach and several health topics presented from a life-course perspective.

In February 2014 ARC guest researcher Roger Keller Celeste held an advanced intensive course (3 credits) in "Structural Equation Modelling using Mplus". Our specialized knowledge about a number of aging research issues also led several researchers to teach in courses at different levels at KI and other universities. At the international level, we participated in organizing and teaching "The summer school of modern methods in biostatistics and epidemiology," organized by the Harvard School of Public Health in the United States and the Department of Medical Epidemiology and Biostatistics, KI, which was held in Treviso, Italy. We also helped organize and teach the "International course of Neuroepidemiology," organized by the University of Palermo in Italy and the Mayo Clinic in the United States. This course was held in Erice, Italy.



Swedish National Graduate School for Competitive Science on Ageing and Health (SWEAH)

Since fall 2014 ARC has been a collaborator in SWEAH. SWEAH's mission is to develop efficient and creative cooperation among Swedish higher education institutions and relevant national and international partners. The school has received 3 years of funding from the Swedish Research Council, with the possibility to extend funding for an additional 5-year period. The overarching longterm goal of SWEAH is to develop and strengthen the recruitment base of future leaders in research on aging and health. SWEAH will achieve this aim by creating a sustainable multi- and cross-disciplinary national graduate school for competitive science that will ultimately lead to improved quality of life, health, medical treatment, and care for our aging population.

Vohijang

Graduate Research School on Health and Aging

The graduate research school started in 2008, and in 2012 we successfully reapplied to Forte for continued funding for 2013 through 2015. Six groups and centers participate in the school: ARC; the Division of Occupational Therapy and Alzheimer's Disease Research Center, KI; the Centre for Ageing and Supportive Environments, Lund University; Swedish Brain Power (a national network); and EpiLife, Gothenburg University. The idea behind the graduate school is to use the partners' respective competencies as the basis for a graduate school in aging research at a national level with substantial multidisciplinary interaction. The goal is to cover the different scientific disciplines related to older people both from a theoretical and a methodological point of view. In this way, the school seeks to provide PhD students with the opportunity to access various courses and other educational activities within multiple scientific areas, giving them the advantage of a multidisciplinary perspective during their development as researchers.

The school offers courses (see above), seminars, workshops, and international forums to doctoral students in aging research in Sweden. The 1-hour weekly scientific seminar should be relevant to aging research.



Carin Lennartsson, Director of Studies of the Graduate Research School on Health and Aging.

The seminar program is prepared at the beginning of each semester. Both senior researchers and PhD students lecture at the seminars, providing opportunities for the students to engage in scientific discussions across disciplines and to form contacts with outside researchers that can lead to future collaboration. The number of seminars has varied between 20 and 30 a year.

During 2013 and 2014 the research school arranged two workshops and one advanced course. The first workshop was "Data Management and Graphics using STATA" and the second, "Linear mixed and structural equation modelling on longitudinal brain data."

ARC has also hosted several senior researchers who are internationally recognized as authorities in their field. Each researcher has presented his or her major findings, opinions, and future perspectives in a 2-hour meeting (international forum) open to all students and other researchers at KI. Eleven forums were held during 2013 and 2014. Examples include:

- Professor Vern L Bengtson, Edward C Roybal Institute on Aging, School of Social Work, University of Southern California, gave a lecture on the topic "New trends in the theory of aging."
- Professor Sally Brailsford, University of Southampton, lectured on "Using simulation and modelling to improve social care systems: the UK experience."
- Professor Agnes Flöel, NeuroCure Clinical Research Center, Charité, gave a lecture on "Lifestyle interventions and noninvasive brain stimulation for the aging brain."



ARC Junior Researchers' annual retreat on 10 October 2014.

- Professor Marja Jylhä, School of Health Sciences, University of Tampere, gave a lecture on "What do older people know about their health and how? Self-rated health at the crossroads between biology, psychology, and the social world."
- Professors Jo C Phelan and Bruce G Link, Columbia University, Mailman School of Public Health, lectured on "Social conditions as fundamental causes of health inequalities: theory, evidence, and policy implications."
- Professor Naftali Raz, Institute of Gerontology, Wayne State University, lectured on the topic "Fine structure and heavy metal: getting closer to our aging brain."
- Professor Jinglong Wu, Biomedical Engineering Laboratory, Graduate School of Natural Science and Technology, Okayama University, lectured on "New devices for human brain mapping and early detection of Alzheimer disease."

^ohoto: Johanna Bylunc

Since 2011, the graduate school has collaborated with Tampere School of Public Health. The aim of the collaboration is to increase the number of available courses and other activities of interest in the fields of aging research and public health for the doctoral students at both universities. A workshop was arranged in Tampere in 2012 and in Stockholm in 2014. The primary aim of the workshops is to give PhD students the opportunity to present their research, get feedback on their work, and give feedback on other research projects. The students also had the opportunity to develop networks and learn about other dissertation projects. Senior researchers from both institutes took part in the workshops.

The graduate school has the opportunity to pay course fees and travel and lodging costs for students who take relevant courses at universities other than their own. ARC had a total of 29 doctoral students 2013 and 2014 and four defended their theses.

PhD theses defended in 2013 and 2014

BRITT-MARIE SJÖLUND

Physical functioning in old age: temporal trends and geographical variation in Sweden.

Britt-Marie Sjölund's thesis examined physical functioning in older adults using data from the Kungsholmen Project, the Nordanstig Project, and the SNAC-Nordanstig study. The aim was to identify potentially modifiable factors. The results of the thesis show that older adults in the rural population were more disabled in ADL than older adults in the urban population. The studies in the thesis also found that older women were more disabled in ADL than men. Diseases and other health conditions found to have a negative influence on ADL were cognitive impairment, cardiovascular diseases, multimorbidity, musculoskeletal diseases, and depression. Being physically active earlier in life, in old age, or both was associated with being less ADL disabled in old age.

Britt-Marie Sjölund is now working as senior lecturer at the University of Gävle, Faculty of Health and Occupational Studies, Department of Health Caring Sciences.



JONAS WASTESSON

Unequal drug treatment: age and educational differences among older adults.

Jonas Wastesson's thesis aimed to investigate whether drug treatment is unequally distributed among older adults on the basis of age and socioeconomic position. Wastesson used nationwide Swedish registers (the Swedish Prescribed Drug Register, the Patient Register, the Social Services Register, and the Education Register) to carry out large-scale studies of drug treatment (e.g. osteoporosis drugs and psychotropics) among people aged 75 years and older in Sweden. The results of the thesis highlight that older age and lower educational level are associated with suboptimal drug treatment. This suboptimal drug treatment can include under- and over-prescription of drugs, limited access to medical specialists, and limited access to more newly developed drugs.

Jonas Wastesson is now working as a postdoc at the Max-Planck Odense Center on Biodemography of Aging, University of Southern Denmark.



BABAK HOOSHMAND

The impact of homocysteine and B vitamins on Alzheimer's disease, cognitive performance and structural brain changes.

Low levels of vitamin B12 and folate and high values of homocysteine (a known cardiovascular and cerebrovascular risk factor) are common conditions in elderly people. The overall aim of this thesis was to investigate the association of vitamin B12, folate, and homocysteine with cognition and structural brain changes. Data from well known Swedish and Finnish population-based studies were used to investigate the research question. Results of this project indicated that lower B12, elevated total homocysteine, and lower folate levels are involved in late-life cognitive impairment and structural brain changes. Health professionals should consider regularly assessing vitamin B12 and folate status in elderly people. Adequately timed and powered well-planned randomized controlled trials are needed to determine the impact of B-vitamin supplementation on preventing cognitive decline and dementia-related pathology.

Babak Hooshmand is now working as a radiology resident at Munich University Hospital.



DEBORA RIZZUTO

Living longer than expected: protective and risk factors related to human longevity.

The overall aim of Debora Rizzuto's thesis was to detect the most relevant factors that lead to longer survival after age 75. The major research questions were: What is the impact of the most common chronic diseases in elderly people on the survival of elderly people? What effects do lifestyles and social environment have on lifespan? Does the most important component of longevity lie in our genes? The data used in the thesis were from the Kungsholmen Project. Findings underscored the malignant nature of dementia, especially for women, because of the long period individuals lived with the severe disease stages. The findings also suggest that the benefit of a healthy lifestyle, healthy behavior, and social support probably last a lifetime. Moreover, allelic variations in APOE, APOC, and ICE genes were associated with a higher mortality rate, but the combined effect of genetic-environmental joint exposures may lead to the attenuation of the mortality rate, indicating that people with genetic susceptibility may reduce their initial mortality rate by modifying their lifestyle. Therefore, efforts to encourage smoking cessation, physical activity, and social engagement should be continued long into late life.

Debora Rizzuto is now working as a postdoc at ARC.



Additional achievements

Career advancements

New appointments at KI

Professors

Johan Fritzell, Professor in Social Gerontology Martin Lövdén, Professor in Cognitive Aging Eva von Strauss, Professor in Public Health at the Swedish Red Cross University College (SRCUC), associated with ARC



Martin Lövdén, appointed professor, received an ERC grant and two framework grants 2014, one from the Swedish Research Council for Health, Working Life and Welfare (Forte) and one from the Swedish Research Council (*Vetenskapsrådet*).

Senior professor

Lars-Göran Nilsson, Senior Professor in Psychology at ARC from November 2013 to December 2014

Senior lecturers

Carin Lennartsson Chengxuan Qiu Hui-Xin Wang

Associate professors

Anna-Karin Welmer Weili Xu Lena Dahlberg, associated with ARC

Research associates

Neda Agahi Weili Xu, won funding for research associate position in competition at KI

• Laura Fratiglioni elected as teacher representative on the Board of KI in 2014 as well as the Board of Research, 2012-2014 and 2015-2017.

- Laura Fratiglioni member of the Recruitment Committee.
- Kristina Johnell, Head of Division from January 1, 2014.
- Kristina Johnell is a member of the Nomination Assembly at KI.
- Kristina Johnell is a steering group member for the Center for Alzheimer research at KI.
- Kristina Johnell and Marti Parker are members of the Academic Center for Gerodontics.
- Miia Kivipelto is team leader for the Neurogeriatricclinical trials unit at New Karolinska Solna, a project within KI to develop campus Solna.
- Jonas Persson, Deputy Head of Division from January 1, 2014.

ARC researchers are partners in the newly established Center for Alzheimer Research at KI. There was a kickoff on March 3 and a meeting on November 3, 2014.



ARC researchers at the departmental event celebrating new professors, senior lecturers, and associate professors.

Appointments to commissions of trust outside KI

ARC researchers were appointed members of the Ethical Review Board; acted as peer-reviewers for international and national funding agencies, including the Swedish Research Council; participated in several EU networks and consortia; and served as invited lecturers at chairs of several national and international conferences.



Chengxuan Qiu was appointed senior lecturer and received several grants and awards.



Pär Schön with the winning poster at the Nordic Congress of Gerontology 2014.

Awards

- Yvonne Brehmer received funding to start an Otto Hahn Group on Associative Memory in Old Age at the Max Planck Institute for Human Development in Berlin.
- Laura Fratiglioni was awarded with the Bengt Winblad Lifetime Achievement Award at the Alzheimer's Association International Conference in 2013.
- Miia Kivipelto received the Skandia Lennart Levi Prize 2013 for her research into dementia and Alzheimer disease.
- Bengt Winblad received KI's "Stora Silvermedaljen" in 2013.
- Goran Papenberg received the Otto Hahn medal for his dissertation.
- Chengxuan Qiu received the International Society of Behavioral Medicine Contributions to International Collaborations Award in 2014.
- Pär Schön won the best poster award at the Nordic Congress of Gerontology in 2014.
- Laura Fratiglioni was awarded the Premio Enrico Greppi prize by the Italian Geriatric and Gerontology Society.
- Miia Kivipelto was voted "Best PI at KI" by the KI Postdoc Association.

44

Scientific outreach

Clinical and societal impact

Communication and dissemination of research findings

Clinical impact

Our major clinical impact over the last two years has been in the area of drug use in elderly people and can be summarized as follows:

- By using the computerized techniques we developed for analyzing drug utilization data from the Swedish Prescribed Drug Register, we regularly assist the National Board of Health and Welfare and the Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions (SALAR, SKL) in their annual comparisons of the quality of health care. These measurements have also played a major role in the successful initiative to improve drug use in older people. This initiative is part of the agreement between the government and SALAR to support long-term improvement work that focuses on improving the quality and cohesiveness of the care of the most frail elderly persons.
- Since 2000 we have developed a computerized decision support system (miniQ) to facilitate prescribing and drug utilization reviews in eldercare. The system, which is now web-based, has three interlinked components: miniQ for physicians and nurses, SeniorminiQ for patients and relatives, and Monitor which provides support for pharmacological experts. MiniQ has now been implemented in more than 650 health care units in 16 counties in Sweden.
- Quality of drug use in elderly people. Our longstanding research in the area of geriatric pharmacology and pharmacoepidemiology and participation in the development of national indicators for drug therapy in the elderly have likely played a role in the recently reported improvement in the quality of drug use in elderly people since 2005 [*Socialstyrelsen* 2014].

Societal impact

ARC's aim is to inform stakeholders about the results of our research by participating in the public debate about issues relevant to aging research.

ARC's outreach to society has increased:

- During 2013 and 2014, ARC researchers frequently took part in national news programs on television and radio, including on the educational radio station (UR) and popular morning breakfast shows.
- We have noticed an increase in the demand for teaching and participating in conferences, including outside academia. As well as informing local and county councils and pensioners' organizations, and participating in *Almedalsveckan* (an important weeklong Swedish political forum).
- During 2013, Stefan Fors was a member of a reference group for a project commissioned by the Swedish organization Mind. The purpose of the project was to develop an aggregate measure of psychological health and to compare psychological health in different geographical areas in Sweden and in different countries in Europe. The measure was named the "Mind-index", and results based on the index were published in 2013 (comparing European countries) and in 2014 (comparing counties in Sweden) by Mind.

ARC has been involved in organizing several symposia. ARC researchers participate in numerous research networks and have an extensive network of collaborators both nationally and internationally. ARC researchers are also involved in many teaching activities, such as seminars, international forums, and journal club meetings.

During the spring of 2013, ARC's new website, http:// ki-su-arc.se/, was launched. Brochures about ARC were published in 2013 in both English and Swedish.

Our collaborators at the Stockholm Gerontology Research Center and Swedish Dementia Centre have established systems for reaching audiences outside the scientific community. Many of the researchers at ARC participate regularly in conferences and courses for care providers, politicians, other decision makers, and interest groups. ARC contributes to the Swedish-language magazine *Äldre i Centrum*, based at the Stockholm Gerontology Research Center. This national magazine on aging research covers health and disease in aging, presenting important happenings in the field.

Several ARC researchers took part in *Almedalsveckan* in 2013 and 2014; *Almedalsveckan* is an annual forum in Sweden for politicians from all the major political parties. ARC researchers have also hosted visits from national and international politicians and policy makers, including delegations from Canada, China, and South Africa. During a visit by representatives of Forte to ARC in fall 2014, ARC underscored the importance of aging research in Sweden and worldwide.



hoto: Maria Yohuang

Visit to ARC from Xi'an Jiaotong University (professors Shuzhuo Li, Xiaoyi Jin, Jie Li, Quanbao Jiang, Weihong Zeng).



Selection of outreach activities and events



Jonas af Jochnick and Robert af Jochnick from their visit at ARC fall 2014. Accompanied by Lars Bäckman in the middle.

- The af Jochnick brothers, co-founders of the af Jochnick Center for the Cognitive Neuroscience of Aging, visited ARC in June 2013 and September 2014 for updates on research findings.
- SNAC-K data collection staff, participants, and Professor Laura Fratiglioni participated in the documentary film *Forska för livet* ("Research for life") by Folke Rydén, Marianne Gustavsson, and Lisa Belfrage.
- There was a press seminar on a SNAC report, with Laura Fratiglioni present. The seminar led to several news articles in the media.
- ARC was one of the exhibitors at the 22nd Nordic Congress of Gerontology (22 NKG) held in Gothenburg

on the 25-28 of May 2014, and ARC researchers also held symposia and poster presentations. The theme of this year's congress was "age well."

- In December 2014, members of ARC presented their research at the breakfast seminar in the spirit of Alfred Nobel at Stockholm University. The seminar was organized by Stockholm Business Regions and Stockholm University, and the theme of this year's seminar was aging.
- Forte Talks, a conference held March 25-26, 2014, was organized by Forte as a forum for discussion between researchers, policy makers, and care users. ARC contributed presentations and posters and was an exhibitor at the conference.

- The vice-chancellors of KI and Stockholm University visited ARC in September 2014 for an update on ARC's latest research findings and future plans.
- In 2014 Forte released a report on aging and memory written by three ARC researchers: Martin Lövdén, Johan Fastbom, and Stefan Fors. Information in this report was also discussed in a seminar held in Stockholm in October 2014.
- In December 2013, Miia Kivipelto contributed to discussions at an international summit meeting on dementia held in London. Health and science advisers, world-leading experts, and senior industry figures gathered to discuss and agree on an international approach for future dementia research.
- Marti G Parker, Bettina Meinow, Hanna Berndt, Louise Sundberg, Stefan Fors were nominees for 2014's "best original article of the year" in *Läkartidningen* (the Swedish Medical Journal). Their article was about the Swedish Centenarian Survey – A study of Swedish 100 year olds health and functional status.
- Miia Kivipelto was a panelist during the Nobel Week Dialogue in 2014. This event gathers Nobel Laureates, world-leading scientists, experts, and thought leaders for a panel discussion on the topic of aging.



Forte report on Aging and Memory written by ARC researchers: Martin Lövdén, Johan Fastbom, and Stefan Fors.

Scientific outreach



Miia Kivipelto presenting new research findings at the conference Forte talks in March 2014.

ARC in the media

Media	Number of appearances
Newspapers	50 articles and/or press items in newspapers such as Dagens Nyheter, Svenska Dagbladet, Göteborgsposten, and the New York Times.
Magazines	12 articles in magazines such as Focus; Medicinsk Vetenskap; SPRF, Medlemstidning för Sveriges Pensionärers Riksförbund; Icon; Dagens Samhälle; and Der Spiegel.
Television	25 TV appearances and/or references on programs such as Aktuellt and Nyhetsmorgon.
Radio	10 interviews on Swedish radio.
Internet	Four research results received a great deal of attention on the Internet: Martin Lövdén and Lars Bäckman's study on how physical activity affects the memory in 60-year olds, Martin Lövdén's study on how older adults perform on cognitive tasks compared to younger adults, Chengxuan Qiu's study on decreased incidence of dementia, and Miia Kivipelto's study on how our lifestyle affects risk of dementia (FINGER).

sens mist mot var femte man Kristina Johnell vill också peka på generatio stryker at och inte f ett område där män antagligen är 77En myt att kvinnor söker för allt möjligt – Kvinnor är sjukare än män under hela and stands reg grups The off are regard for a regard f livet och ändå lever de längre. Det bruka kallas för könspara Källan är en studie av Socialstyrel-Kallan är en studie av Socialistyrel-sens läkemedelsregister där 600 000 personer mellan 75 och 89 år ingick. En fjärdedel av alla läkemedel kon-KRISTINA JOHNELL, docent vid Aging Research Center, Karolinska institutet. som de i alla ålderse tagna på allvar eller så ä bigt att ta sig till läkaren att få vård. medan män oftare dör "knall och fall" - Ja, jag lutar åt det hållet. Men vi terna i form av en måste också Frågan är då vad som är rättvist ANNONS HELA DENNA TIDNING ÄR EN ANNONS FRÅN STIFTELSEN STOCKHOLMS LÄNS Å INCVICAR LIVECTILENE RETYDELSE FÖR ÅLDRANDE Hur mår Europa? Träning förbättrar minnet hos äldre KLINIK & VETENSKAP ORIG Äldre har fått f **Aktivt liv** men klarar var kan skjuta på demensdiagnosen Framsteg verka reaken att jukdomar sem risken för risken för forka för for-forka för for-for aktige sin hjörna rätt hjörna rätt hjörna rätt ti fors mvist En annan livsat om att vara aktiv cialt och mentalt - Risken att bi Chargens Mexicenter Tex Aktivt liv förebygger demens in Stockholn elderly peop

77 Kvinnor får oftare olämpliga läkemedel

- Var fjärde kvinna fick olämpliga läkemedel, mätt med Socialstyrelsens mått, mot var femte man.

Det har **Kristina Johnell**, docent vid Aging Research Center, Karolinska institutet, visat i sin forskning. att det är en riskfaktor i sig att använ-da många olika läkemedel. Däremot är det något av en myt

att kvinnor och män reagerar väldigt ras av 75-plussare, fast de bara är olika på läkemedel, enligt Kristina

ningar i sallke. den hår typen av plassid-I båda grupperta mår tes sødan des opisodiska Ræsukasen publiceras i minnes (personliga upp-tidskriften Molecular Psy-lavdser), hjodfibdas i ligarnans hippocampus (som ärviksig för minnes), same

m de allra äldstas

st de bara är olika på läkemdel, enligt Krissina i att kveiser tättare. Men börja til de i fungsora bara de kondikion som uptvisade est samband med förändringar av med förändringar av minnesförmågan, hip-srenska och syska sirs-pocampusvolym och kare som har undersöla: bloddödet i hippocam-efsisten av regelbrunden tv neurovesenskap vid karolinka inselteset tv neurovesenskap vid karolinka inselteset vedaan.

60 och 70 år. Episodiska minnet Som koneroll användes 70 år sågs inte samma en grupp där dekagarna förändringar, vilkes fors-ägnade sig är ærerch- och karna solkar som an des nnuskelavslappnande öv-ningar i sälles, den hår open av plassidden hår typen av plastid-

ani-sfir-1 211

e

100-åringar som kan kliva ut genom

EXPRESSEN.SE



det fungerar bara om du är Lagom gammal. ringar av mit gan, hippocar och blodflöde



venska 100-åringar behöver nycket vård och omsorg

arian survev – om hälsa och lev

KA BERNDT, MSc. forsk-Ny rapport från Äldrecentrum, Oamlikh

Stockholmar över 65 – L så mår de

Budskapet från den hå ningen går inte att ta på: betydelsen av en l livsstil och ett rikt so nätverk, fortgår hela livet. Insa för att uppruntra till fysisk ab rökstopp och att socialt engags

"Β

Av de barn som föds

i Sverige idag spås fler än hälften kunna fira

sin 100-årsdag. Men vad är knepet? En ny

10

skapet från den bi



Manuelinow, fil dr, post-samtliga Iac, Karoli KA BERNDT, MSc, forsk-



Många äldre vågar inte gå ut på kvällen

會



En utskrift från Expres

Finance, funding, and future plans

Income

Summary of major financial resources in 2013 and 2014.



- Forte: Center of Excellence
- SU: Matching funds
- KI/NVS department: Activity based funds
- KI: Internal competetive funding
- KI: Undergraduate education
- af Jochnick Foundation: Donation
- National/International agencies: Research grants



- Forte: Center of Excellence
- SU: Matching funds
- KI/NVS department: Activity based funds
- KI: Internal competetive funding
- KI: Undergraduate education
- af Jochnick Foundation: Donation
- National/International agencies: Research grants

*Indirect costs paid to Karolinska Institutet.

List of external funders

Major funders (in alphabetical order)

European Union

Jochnick Foundation

Swedish Research Council for Health, Working Life and Welfare (Forte)

The Swedish Research Council (Vetenskapsrådet)





Other funders (in alphabetical order)

Alzheimer Foundation, Sweden (*Alzheimerfonden*) Dementia Fund (Demensfonden) Emil and Wera Cornell Foundation Gamla tjänarinnor Foundation Gun and Bertil Stohne Foundation Hierta-Retzius Scholarship Fund Hjärnfonden French National Institute of Health and Medical Research King Gustaf V and Queen Victoria's Foundation Nordic Research Councils for the Humanities and the Social Sciences (NOS-HS)





- Ragnhild and Einar Lundström Memorial Foundation
- Sigurd and Elsa Golje Memorial Foundation
- Stockholm County Council/ALF
- Sweden's Central Bank's Jubilee Fund (Riksbankens Jubileumsfond)
- Söderström/Königska Foundation
- The National Board of Health and Welfare (Socialstyrelsen)
- The Royal Swedish Academy of Sciences
- The Swedish Foundation for Humanities and Social Sciences (Riksbankens Jubileumsfond)
- The Swedish Society of Medicine
- The Wallenberg Foundations

Future plans

ARC plays an important role in addressing future challenges related to the aging of populations. Our major focus for the future is to ensure sustainable growth of research at ARC. We strive to maintain high-quality research with a great impact on science, the health care system, and society at large. These goals will be achieved by providing a challenging, multidisciplinary, and creative research environment with many opportunities for national and international networking. This kind of environment is essential for attracting talented doctoral students and postdocs and continuing to attract guest researchers. We will also expand our collaboration with the two other aging research centers in Sweden—the Centre for Ageing and Supportive Environments at Lund University and the Centre for Ageing and Health at the University of Gothenburg-to make joint efforts to further strengthen Swedish aging research. Our educational objectives include continued work with

graduate-level (third cycle) education, particularly within the framework of the Graduate School in Aging Research, in collaboration with the Centre for Ageing and Supportive Environments. We will also continue our endeavors within various undergraduate (first cycle) and master's (second cycle) programs. ARC has successfully grown in recent years, and this requires development of new organizational strategies. Three younger researchers have joined the Steering Group to enhance the opportunities for involvement of the younger faculty. We also place special focus on our future research leaders who are in the process of forming their own research groups. Postdocs and doctoral students have also established ARC Juniors, a group that will continue to organize retreats and seminars to facilitate the exchange of multidisciplinary research ideas and networking. Finally, we also plan to announce new positions at all levels of the organization.



Photo: Stefan Zimmerman

Kristina Johnell

Kristina Johnell Head of Division

Appendix

Publications

Original articles

- A. Longevity, morbidity and functioning
- Agahi N, Lennartsson C, Kåreholt I, Shaw B. Trajectories of social activities from middle age to old age and late-life disability – a 36-year follow-up. Age Ageing. 2013; 42(6):790-793.
- 2. Agahi N, Shaw BA. Smoking trajectories from midlife to old age and the development of non-life-threatening health problems: A 34-year prospective cohort study. *Prev Med.* 2013; 57(2):107-112.
- Agahi N, Shaw BA, Fors S. Social and economic conditions in childhood and the progression of functional health problems from midlife into old age. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2014; 68(8):734-40.
- Angleman SB, Santoni G, Von Strauss E, Fratiglioni L. Temporal trends of functional dependence and survival among older adults from 1991 to 2010 in Sweden: Toward a healthier aging. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2014 Nov 13.
- Bao C, Yang X, Xu WL, Luo H, Xu Z, Qi X. Diabetes mellitus and incidence and mortality of kidney cancer: A meta-analysis. *J Diabetes Complicat.* 2013; 27(4):357-364.
- Beelen R, Raaschou-Nielsen O, Stafoggia M, Jovanovic Andersen Z, Weinmayr G, Hoffmann B, et al. Effects of long-term exposure to air pollution on natural cause mortality: an analysis of 22 European cohorts within the multicenter ESCAPE project. *The Lancet*. 2014; 383(9919):785-95.
- Beelen R, Stafoggia M, Rasschou-Nielsen O, Andersen Z, Xun W, Katsouyanni K, et al. Long-term exposure to air pollution and cardiovascular mortality: an analysis of 22 European cohorts within the ESCAPE project. *Epidemiology.* 2014; 25(3):368-78.
- 8. Cesaroni G, Forastiere F, Stafoggia M, Andersen ZJ,

Badaloni C, Beelen R, et al. Long term exposure to ambient air pollution and incidence of acute coronary events: prospective cohort study and meta-analysis in 11 European cohorts from the ESCAPE Project. *BMJ*. 2014; 348:f7412.

- 9. Dimakopoulou K, Samoli E, Beelen R, Stafoggia M, Andersen ZJ, Hoffmann B, et al. Air pollution and nonmalignant respiratory mortality in 16 cohorts within the ESCAPE project. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2014; 189(6):684-96.
- Feng L, Yan Z, Sun B, Cai C, Jiang H, Kua EH, et al. Tea consumption and depressive symptoms among older people living in rural China. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2013; 61(11):1943-1947.
- 11. Fritzell J, Rehnberg J, Bacchus Hertzman J, Blomgren J. Absolute or relative? A comparative analysis of the relationship between poverty and mortality. *Int J Public Health*. 2015; 60(1):101-110.
- Fuks KB, ..., Caracciolo B, ..., Fratiglioni L, et al. Arterial blood pressure and long-term exposure to traffic-related air pollution: an analysis in the European Study of Cohorts for Air Pollution Effects (ESCAPE). *Environ Health Perspect*. 2014; 122(9):896-905.
- 13. García-Ptacek S, Farahmand B, Kåreholt I, Religa D, Cuadrado ML, Eriksdotter M. Mortality risk after dementia diagnosis by dementia type and underlying factors: a cohort of 15209 patients based on the Swedish Dementia Registry. *J Alzheimers Dis.* 2014; 41(2):467-77.
- 14. García-Ptacek S, Kåreholt I, Farahmand B, Cuadrado ML, Religa D, Eriksdotter M. Body-Mass Index and mortality in incident dementia: a cohort study on 11,398 patients from SveDem, the Swedish Dementia Registry. *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* 2014; 15(6):447.e1-7.

- 15. Heap J, Lennartsson C, Thorslund M. Coexisting disadvantages across the adult age span: a comparison of older and younger age groups in the Swedish welfare state. *Int J Soc Welfare*. 2013; 22(2):130-140.
- 16. Irz X, Fratiglioni L, Kuosmanen N, Mazzocchi M, Modugno L, Nocella G, Shakersain B, Traill B, Xu WL, Zanello G. Sociodemographic determinants of diet quality of the EU elderly: a comparative analysis in four countries. *Public Health Nutr.* 2014; 17(5):1177-89.
- Kalpouzos G*, Rizzuto D*, Keller L, Fastbom J, Santoni G, Angleman S, Graff C, Bäckman L, Fratiglioni L. Telomerase gene (hTERT) and survival: Results from 2 Swedish cohorts of older adults. *Equal contribution. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2014 Nov 30 [in press:online].
- Liang Y, Yan Z, Cai C, Jiang H, Song A, Qiu C. Association between lipid profile and depressive symptoms among Chinese older people: Mediation by cardiovascular diseases? *Int J Behav Med.* 2014; 21(4):590-596.
- Liang Y, Yan Z, Sun B, Cai C, Jiang H, Song A, et al. Cardiovascular risk factor profiles for peripheral arterial disease and carotid atherosclerosis among Chinese older people: a population-based study. *PLoS One.* 2014; 9(1):e85927.
- 20. Melis R, Marengoni A, Angleman S, Fratiglioni L. Incidence and predictors of multimorbidity in the elderly: a population-based longitudinal study. *PLoS One.* 2014; 9(7):e103120.
- Melis R, Marengoni A, Rizzuto D, Teerenstra S, Kivipelto M, Angleman SB, Fratiglioni L. The Influence of Multimorbidity on Clinical Progression of Dementia in a Population-Based Cohort. *PLoS One*. 2013; 8(12):e84014.
- 22. Nelson K, Fritzell J. Welfare states and population health: The role of minimum income benefits for mortality. *Soc Sci Med.* 2014; 112: 63-71.
- 23. Neuvonen E, Rusanen M, Solomon A, Ngandu T, Laatikainen T, Soininen H, Kivipelto M, Tolppanen AM. Late-life cynical distrust, risk of incident dementia, and mortality in a population-based cohort. *Neurology.* 2014; 82(24):2205-12.

- 24. Nilsen C, Andel R, Fors S, Meinow B, Mattsson AD, Kåreholt I. Associations between work-related stress in late midlife, educational attainment, and serious health problems in old age: a longitudinal study with over 20 years of follow-up. *BMC Public Health*. 2014; 14:878.
- 25. Raaschou-Nielsen O, Andersen ZJ, Beelen R, Samoli E, Stafoggia M, Weinmayr G, et al. Air pollution and lung cancer incidence in 17 European cohorts: prospective analyses from the European Study of Cohorts for Air Pollution Effects (ESCAPE). *Lancet Oncol.* 2013; 14(9):813-822.
- Rydwik E, Welmer AK, Angleman S, Fratiglioni L, Wang HX. Is midlife occupational physical activity related to disability in old age? The SNAC-Kungsholmen study. *PLoS One.* 2013; 8(7):e70471.
- 27. Sjöberg L, Östling S, Falk H, Sundh V, Waern M, Skoog I. Secular changes in the relation between social factors and depression: a study of two birth cohorts of Swedish septuagenarians followed for 5 years. *J Affect Disord*. 2013; 150(2):245-252.
- 28. Sjölund BM, Wimo A, Qiu C, Engström M, von Strauss E. Time trends in prevalence of ADL disability and survival: comparing two populations (aged 78+ years) living in a rural area in Sweden. Arch Gerontol Geriat. 2014; 58(3):370-5.
- 29. Song A, Liang Y, Yan Z, Sun B, Cai C, Jiang H, Qiu C. Highly prevalent and poorly controlled cardiovascular risk factors among Chinese elderly people living in the rural community. *Eur J Prev Cardiol.* 2014; 21(10):1267-74.
- 30. Wang M, Beelen R, Stafoggia M, Raaschou-Nielsen O, Andersen ZJ, Hoffmann B, et al. Long-term exposure to elemental constituents of particulate matter and cardiovascular mortality in 19 European cohorts: Results from the ESCAPE and TRANSPHORM projects. *Environ Int.* 2014; 66:97-106.
- Wang Z, Bao C, Su C, Xu WL, Luo H, Chen L, Qi X. Association between diabetes or antidiabetic therapy and lung cancer: A meta-analysis. *J Diabetes Investig.* 2013; 4(6):659-66.
- Welmer A-K, Angleman S, Rydwik E, Fratiglioni L, Qiu C. Association of cardiovascular burden with mobility limitation among elderly people: a population-based study. *PLoS One.* 2013; 8(5): e65815.

- 33. Welmer A-K, Kåreholt I, Rydwik E, Angleman S, Wang HX. Education-related differences in physical performance after age 60: a cross-sectional study assessing variation by age, gender and occupation. *BMC Public Health.* 2013; 13:641.
- 34. Welmer A-K, Liang Y, Angleman S, Santoni G, Yan Z, Cai C, Qiu C. Vascular risk factor burden, atherosclerosis, and functional dependence in old age: a population-based study. *Int J Behav Med.* 2014; 21:597-604.
- 35. Welmer A-K, Rizzuto D, Qiu C X, Caracciolo B, Laukka EJ. Walking speed, processing speed, and dementia: A population-based longitudinal study. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2014; 69(12):1503-10.
- 36. Xi B, Zhang M, Zhang T, Liang Y, Li S, Steffen LM. Hypertension screening using blood pressure to height ratio. *Pediatrics*. 2014; 134:1 e106-e111.
- 37. Yan Z, Liang Y, Jiang H, Cai C, Sun B, Qiu C. Metabolic syndrome and subclinical carotid atherosclerosis among Chinese elderly people living in a rural community. *Metab Syndr Relat Disord*. 2014; 12(5):269-76.
- Zimmermann-Viehoff F, Wang HX, Kirkeeid R, Schneiderma N, Erdur L, Deter H-C, Orth-Gomèr K. Women's exhaustion and coronary artery atherosclerosis progression. The Stockholm Female Coronary Angiography Study. *Psychosom Med.* 2013; 75(5):478-85.
- B. Treatment and care of elderly persons
- 39. Bell JS, Johnell K, Wimmer BC, Wiese MD. Multidose drug dispensing and optimizing drug use in older people. *Age Ageing*. 2013; 42(5):556-558.
- 40. Bennett A, Gnjidic D, Gillett M, Carroll P, Matthews S, Johnell K, et al. Prevalence and impact of fallrisk-increasing drugs, polypharmacy, and drug-drug interactions in robust versus frail hospitalised falls patients: a prospective cohort study. *Drugs Aging.* 2014; 31:225-232.
- 41. Cermakova P, Fereshtehnejad SM, Johnell K, Winblad B, Eriksdotter M, Religa D. Cardiovascular medication burden in dementia disorders: a nationwide study of

19,743 dementia patients in the Swedish Dementia Registry. *Alzheimers Res Ther.* 2014; 6:34.

- 42. Dekker J, Bai B, Oldenburg B, Qiu C, Zhong X. Behavioral medicine in China. *Int J Behav Med.* 2014; 21(4):571-573.
- 43. Ding M, Wang R, Johnell K, Qiu C. Patterns of cardiovascular drugs prescribed for an elderly Swedish population. *Int J Cardiol.* 2014; 177:1091-1094.
- 44. Fereshtehnejad SM, Johnell K, Eriksdotter M. Antidementia drugs and co-medication amongst patients with Alzheimer's disease: Investigating real-world drug use in clinical practice using the Swedish Dementia Quality Registry (SveDem). *Drugs Aging.* 2014; 31(3):215-24.
- 45. Haasum Y, Fastbom J, Johnell K. Different patterns in use of antibiotics for lower urinary tract infection in institutionalized and home-dwelling elderly: a register-based study. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2013; 69(3):665-671.
- 46. Hulter Åsberg K, Söderholm A, Bjarne D, Johansson L. Anhörigas insatser efter stroke är omfattande och ofta livslånga. *Läkartidningen*. 2014; 111.
- 47. Johnell K, Religa D, Eriksdotter M. Differences in drug therapy between dementia disorders in the Swedish Dementia Registry (SveDem): a nationwide study of over 7 000 patients. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*. 2013; 35(5-6):239-248.
- Larsson K, Kåreholt I, Thorslund M. Care utilisation in the last years of life in Sweden: The effects of gender and marital status differ by type of care. *Eur J Ageing*. 2014; 11(4):349-359.
- 49. Orrell A, McKee KJ, Dahlberg L, Gilhooly M, Parker S. Improving continence services for older people from the service-providers' perspective: a qualitative interview study. *BMJ Open.* 2013; 3:e002926.
- Sigurdardottir S, Kåreholt I. Informal and formal care of older people in Iceland. *Scand J Caring Sci.* 2014; 28(4):802-11.
- 51. Sköldunger A, Johnell K, Winblad B, Wimo A. Mortality and treatment costs have a great impact on the cost-effectiveness of disease modifying drugs in Alzheimer's disease. *Curr Alzheimer Res.* 2013; 10(2):207-216.

- 52. Sonde L, Johnell K. Is drug treatment for dementia followed up in primary care? A Swedish study of dementia clinics and referring primary care centres. *PLoS One.* 2013; 882):e57161.
- 53. Wallerstedt SM, Fastbom J, Johnell K, Sjöberg C, Landahl S, Sundström A. Drug treatment in older people before and after the transition to a multi-dose drug dispensing system--a longitudinal analysis. *PLoS One.* 2013; 8(6):e67088.
- 54. Wastesson JW, Ringbäck Weitoft G, Parker MG, Johnell K. Educational level and use of osteoporosis drugs in elderly men and women: a Swedish nationwide register-based study. *Osteoporos Int.* 2013; 24(2):433-442.
- 55. Wimmer BC, Dent E, Bell JS, Wiese MD, Chapman I, Johnell K, Visvanathan R. Medication regimen complexity and unplanned hospital readmissions in older people. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2014; 48(9):1120-1128.
- 56. Wimmer BC, Dent E, Visvanathan R, Wiese MD, Johnell K, Chapman I, et al. Polypharmacy and medication regimen complexity as factors associated with hospital discharge destination among older people: a prospective cohort study. *Drugs Aging.* 2014; 31(8):623-30.
- C. Health trends and inequality
- Berndt H, Fors S. Childhood living conditions, education, and health among the oldest old in Sweden. *Ageing & Society*. 2015; 1-18.
- Dahlberg L, Andersson L, McKee KJ, Lennartsson C. Predictors of loneliness among older women and men in Sweden: A national longitudinal study. *Aging Ment Health.* 2014; 15:1-9.
- Dahlberg L, McKee KJ. Correlates of social and emotional loneliness in older people: Evidence from an English community study. *Aging Ment Health*. 2014; 18(4):504-14.
- 60. Feng L, Ng X-T, Yap P, Li J, Lee T-S, Håkansson K, et al. Marital status and cognitive impairment among community-living Chinese older adults: the role of gender and social engagement. *Dement Geriatric Cogn.* 2014; 4(3):375–384.
 70. Liang Y, Liu R, Du S, Qiu C. Trends in incidence of hypertension in Chinese adults, 1991-2009: The China Health and Nutrition Survey. *Int J Cardiol.* 2014; 175(1):96-101.

- 61. Fors S, Agahi N, Shaw BA. Paying the price? The impact of smoking and obesity on health inequalities in later life. *Scand J Public Health*. 2013; 41(2):134-141.
- 62. Fors S, Lennartsson C, Agahi N, Parker MG, Thorslund M. Intervjustudie om de allra äldstas levnadsvillkor. Äldre har fått fler hälsoproblem, men klarar vardagen bättre. *Läkartidningen.* 2013; 110:CA33.
- 63. Fors S, Thorslund, M. Enduring Inequality: Educational disparities in health among the oldest old in Sweden 1992-2011. *Int J Public Health*. 2015; 60(1):91-8.
- 64. Heap J, Fors S. Duration and accumulation of disadvantages in old age. *Soc Indi Res.* 2014; 1-19.
- 65. Johnell K, Laflamme L, Möller J, Monárrez-Espino J. The role of marital status in the association between benzodiazepines, psychotropics and injurious road traffic crashes: a register-based nationwide study of senior drivers in Sweden. *PLoS One.* 2014; 9(1):e86742.
- 66. Kelfve S, Agahi N, Darin Mattsson A, Lennartsson C. Increased alcohol use over the past 20 years among the oldest old in Sweden. *Nordic Studies on Alcohol and Drugs.* 2014; 31:3, 245-260.
- Lagergren M, Sjölund BM, Fagerström C, Berglund J, Fratiglioni L, Nordell E, Wimo A, Elmståhl S. Horizontal and vertical target efficiency – a comparison between users and non-users of public long-term care in Sweden. *Ageing and Society*. 2014; 34(04):700-719.
- 68. Lennartsson C, Agahi N, Hols-Salén L, Kelfve S, Kåreholt I, Parker MG,et al. Data resource profile: the Swedish Panel Study of Living Conditions of the Oldest Old (SWEOLD). *Int J Epidemiol.* 2014; 43(3):731-738.
- Lexomboon D, Wårdh I, Thorslund M, Parker MG. Determinants of tooth loss and chewing ability in mid- and late life in three Swedish birth cohorts. *Ageing and Society.* 2014 April 15 30 [in press:online].

- Liang Y, Song A, Du S, Guralnik JM, Qiu C. Trends in disability in activities of daily living among Chinese older adults, 1997-2006: The China Health and Nutrition Survey. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. 2014 Nov 19.
- 72. Nosowska G, McKee K, Dahlberg L. Using structured observation and content analysis to explore the presence of older people in public fora in developing countries. *J Aging Health.* 2014; 2014;860612.
- 73. Parker V, Andel R, Nilsen C, Kåreholt I. The association between mid-life socioeconomic position and health after retirement exploring the role of working conditions. *J Aging Health*. 2013; 25(5):863-881.
- Rostila M, Fritzell J. Mortality differentials by immigrant groups in Sweden: The contribution of socioeconomic position. *Am J Public Health.* 2014; 104(4):686-695.
- 75. Shaw BA, Agahi N. Smoking and physical inactivity patterns during midlife as predictors of all-cause mortality and disability: A 39-year prospective study. *Eur J Ageing*. 2014; 11(3):195-204.
- Shaw BA, McGeever K, Grubert E, Agahi N, Fors S. Socioeconomic inequalities in health after age 50: Are health behaviors to blame? *Soc Sci Med.* 2014; 101:52-60.
- 77. Thorslund M, Wastesson J, Agahi N, Lagergren M, Parker MG. The rise and fall of women's advantage: a comparison of national trends in life expectancy at age 65 years. *Eur J Ageing*. 2013; 10(4):271-277.
- Trygged S, Hedlund E, Kåreholt I. Beaten and poor? A study of the long-term economic situation of women victims of severe violence. *Social Work in Public Health.* 2014; 29(2):100-113.
- 79. Trygged S, Hedlund E, Kåreholt I. Living in danger
 Previous violence, socioeconomic position, and mortality risk among women over a 10-year period. *Social Work in Public Health.* 2014; 29(2):114-120.
- 80. Trygged S, Hedlund E, Kåreholt I. Sociala konsekvenser av sjukdom - Exemplet stroke. *Socialmedicinsk Tidskrift*. 2013; 90(4):613-629.

- Trygged S, Hedlund E, Kåreholt I. Våldsutsatta kvinnor drabbas av långsiktiga negativa ekonomiska konsekvenser. *Socialmedicinsk Tidskrift*. 2013; 90(4):604-612.
- Trygged S, Hedlund E, Kåreholt I. Women experiencing severe violence in all social groups suffer long term negative economic consequences. *The Journal of Poverty and Social Justice*. 2013; 21(1):61-76.
- Wastesson JW, Fastbom J, Ringbäck Weitoft G, Fors S, Johnell K. Socioeconomic inequalities in access to specialized psychotropic prescribing among older Swedes: a register-based study. *Eur J Public Health.* 2014; 24(6):991-6.
- 84. Wastesson JW, Fors S, Parker MG, Johnell K. Inequalities in health care use among older adults in Sweden 1992-2011: A repeated cross-sectional study of Swedes aged 77 years and older. *Scand J Public Health.* 2014; 42:795-803.
- 85. Wastesson JW, Ringbäck Weitoft G, Johnell K. Educational disparities in antipsychotic drug use among older people with and without dementia in Sweden: a register-based study. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*. 2014 Dec 22 [in press:online].
- D. Brain aging
- Andel R, Silverstein M, Kåreholt I. The role of midlife occupational complexity and leisure activity in latelife cognition. *J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci.* 2015; 70(2):314-21.
- Anstey KJ, Cherbuin N, Herath PM, Qiu C, Kuller LH, Lopez OL, et al. A self-report risk index to predict occurrence of dementia in three independent cohorts of older adults: The ANU-ADRI. *PLoS One.* 2014; 9(1):e86141.
- 88. Brose A, Lövdén M, Schmiedek F. Daily fluctuations in positive affect positively co-vary with working memory performance. *Emotion.* 2014; 14(1):1-6.
- 89. Caracciolo B, Gatz M, Xu W, Marengoni A, Pedersen NL, Fratiglioni L. Relationship of subjective cognitive impairment and cognitive impairment no dementia to chronic disease and multimorbidity in a nation-wide twin study. *J Alzheimers Dis.* 2013; 36(2):275-284.

- Ebner NC, Johnson MR, Rieckmann A, Durbin KA, Johnson MK, Fischer H. Processing own-age vs. Other-age faces: Neuro-behavioral correlates and effects of emotion. *Neuroimage*. 2013; 78:363-371.
- 91. Economides M, Guitart-Masip M, Kurth-Nelson Z, Dolan RJ. Anterior cingulate cortex instigates adaptive switches in choice by integrating immediate and delayed components of value in ventromedial prefrontal cortex. *J Neurosci.* 2014; 34(9):3340-9.
- 92. Escott-Price V, ..., Fratiglioni L, et al. Gene-wide analysis detects two new susceptibility genes for Alzheimer's disease. *PLoS One*. 2014; 9(6):e94661.
- 93. Exalto LG, Quesenberry CP, Barnes D, Kivipelto M, Biessels GJ, Whitmer RA. Midlife risk score for the prediction of dementia four decades later. *Alzheimers Dement.* 2014; 10(5):562-70.
- 94. Ferencz B, Laukka EJ, Lövdén M, Kalpouzos G, Keller L, Graff C, Wahlund LO, Fratiglioni L, Bäckman L. The influence of the APOE and TOMM40 polymorphisms on hippocampal volume and episodic memory in old age. *Front Hum Neurosci.* 2013; 7:198.
- 95. Ferencz B, Laukka EJ, Welmer AK, Kalpouzos G, Angleman S, Keller L, Graff C, Lövdén M, Bäckman L. The benefits of staying active in old age: Physical activity counteracts the negative influence of PICALM, BIN1 and CLU risk alleles on episodic memory functioning. *Psychol Aging*. 2014; 29(2):440-449.
- 96. Ferrari C, Xu WL, Wang HX, Winblad B, Fratiglioni L. How can elderly APOE 4 carriers remain free from dementia? *Neurobiol Aging*. 2013; 34(1):13-21.
 97. Garcia-Ptacek S, Cavallin L, Kåreholt I, Gregoric Kramberger M, Winblad B, Jelic V, Eriksdotter M. Subjective compiting impairment. Subjects in our
 96. Ferrari C, Xu WL, Wang HX, Winblad B, Fratiglioni I. How can elderly APOE 4 carriers remain free from dementia? *Neurobiol Aging*. 2013; 34(1):13-21.
 97. Garcia-Ptacek S, Cavallin L, Kåreholt I, Gregoric Kramberger M, Winblad B, Jelic V, Eriksdotter M. Subjective compiting impairment. Subjects in our
- Garcia-Ptacek S, Cavallin L, Kåreholt I, Gregoric Kramberger M, Winblad B, Jelic V, Eriksdotter M. Subjective cognitive impairment. Subjects in our clinical practice. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord Extra*. 2014; 11:4(3):419-30.
- 98. García-Ptacek S, Eriksdotter-Jönhagen M, Jelic V, Porta-Etessam J, Kåreholt I, Manzano Palomo S. Quejas cognitivas subjetivas: hacia una identificación precoz de la enfermedad de Alzheimer [Subjective cognitive impairment: towards an early identification of Alzheimer's disease]. *Neurología.* 2013 Apr 16 [in press:online].

- 99. Gerritsen L, Kalpouzos G, Westman E, Simmons A, Wahlund L O, Bäckman L, Fratiglioni L, Wang HX. The influence of negative life events on hippocampal and amygdala volumes in old age: A life-course perspective. *Psychol Med.* 2014; 2:1-10.
- 100. Ghisletta P, Bäckman L, Bertram L, Brandmaier AM, Gerstorf D, Liu T, Lindenberger U. The Val/Met polymorphism of the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) gene predicts cognitive decline in older adults. *Psychol Aging*. 2014; 29(2):384-92.
- 101. Grandy T, Werkle-Bergner M, Chicherio C, Schmiedek F, Lövdén M, & Lindenberger U. Peak individual alpha frequency qualifies as a stable neurophysiological trait marker in healthy younger and older adults. *Psychophysiology.* 2013; 50(6):570-582.
- 102. Grandy TH, Chicherio C, Lövdén M, Schmiedek F, Lindenberger U. Individual alpha peak frequency is related to latent factors of general cognitive abilities. *Neuroimage.* 2013; 79:10-18.
- 103. Guitart-Masip M, Economides M, Huys QJ, Frank MJ, Chowdhury R, Duzel E, Dayan P, Dolan RJ. Differential, but not opponent, effects of L-DOPA and citalopram on action learning with reward and punishment. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*. 2014; 231(5):955-66.
- 104. Hahn EA, Wang HX, Andel R, Fratiglioni L. A change in sleep pattern may predict Alzheimer's disease. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry.* 2014; 22(11):1262-71.

- 106. Hedenius M, Ullman MT, Alm P, Jennische M, Persson J. Enhanced declarative memory with developmental dyslexia. *PLoS One.* 2013; 8(5): e63998.
- 107. Hooshmand B, Lökk J, Solomon A, Mangialasche F, Miralbell J, Spulber G, Annerbo S, Andreasen N, Winblad B, Cedazo-Minguez A, Wahlund LO, Kivipelto M. Vitamin D in relation to cognitive impairment, cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers, and brain volumes. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2014; 69(9):1132-8.

- 108. Hooshmand B, Polvikoski T, Kivipelto M, Tanskanen M, Myllykangas L, Erkinjuntti T, et al. Plasma homocysteine, Alzheimer and cerebrovascular pathology: a population-based autopsy study. Brain. 2013; 136(Pt 9):2707-16.
- 109. Iacono D, Volkman I, Nennesmo I, Pedersen NL, Fratiglioni L, Johansson B, et al. Neuropathologic assessment of dementia markers in identical and fraternal twins. Brain Pathol. 2014; 24(4):317-33.
- 110. Imtiaz B, Tuppurainen M, Tiihonen M, Kivipelto M, Soininen H, Hartikainen S, Tolppanen AM. Oophorectomy, hysterectomy, and risk of Alzheimer's disease: a nationwide case-control study. J Alzheimers Dis. 2014; 42(2):575-81.
- 111. Jonasson L S, Axelsson J, Riklund K, Braver TS, Ögren M, Bäckman L, Nyberg L. Dopamine release in nucleus accumbens during rewarded task switching measured by [¹¹C]raclopride. Neuroimage. 2014; 99:357-64.
- 112. Kauppi K, Nilsson LG, Persson J, Nyberg L. Additive genetic effect of APOE and BDNF on hippocampus activity. Neuroimage. 2014; 89:306-313.
- 113. Kramberger MG, Kåreholt I, Andersson T, Winblad B, Eriksdotter M, Jelic V. Association between EEG abnormalities and CSF biomarkers in a memory clinic cohort. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 2013; 36(5-6):319-328.
- 114. Kühn S, Schmiedek F, Brose A, Schott BH, Lindenberger U, Lövden M. The neural representation 123. Liang Y, Yan Z, Song A, Cai C, Sun B, Jiang H, Qiu of intrusive thoughts. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. 2013; 2013; 8(6):688-693.
- 115. Kühn S, Schmiedek F, Noack H, Wenger E, Bodammer NC, Lindenberger U, et al. The dynamics of change in striatal activity following updating training. Hum Brain Mapp. 2013; 34(7):1530-1541.
- 116. Kulmala J, Solomon A, Kåreholt I, Ngandu T, Rantanen T, Laatikainen T, et al. Association between mid- to late life physical fitness and dementia: evidence from the CAIDE study. J Intern Med. 2014; 276(3):296-307.
- 117. Lambert JC, Grenier-Boley B, Harold D, Zelenika D, Chouraki V, Kamatani Y, et al. Genome-wide

haplotype association study identifies the FRMD4A gene as a risk locus for Alzheimer's disease. Mol Psychiatry. 2013; 18(4):461-70.

- 118. Lambert J-C, Ibrahim-Verbaas CA, Harold D, Naj A-C, Sims R, Bellenguez C, et al. Meta-analysis of 74,046 individuals identifies 11 new susceptibility loci for Alzheimer's disease. Nat Genet. 2013; 45(12):1452-1458.
- 119. Laukka EJ, Lövdén M, Herlitz A, Karlsson S, Ferencz B, Pantzar A, Keller L, Graff C, Fratiglioni L, Bäckman L. Genetic effects on old-age cognitive functioning: a population-based study. Psychol Aging. 2013; 28(1):262-474.
- 120. Laukka EJ, Lövdén M, Kalpouzos G, Li T-Q, Jonsson T, Wahlund L-O, et al. Associations between white matter microstructure and cognitive performance in old and very old age. PLoS One. 2013; 8(11):e81419.
- 121. Leoni V, Solomon A, Lövgren-Sandblom A, Minthon L, Blennow K, Hansson O, Wahlund LO, Kivipelto M, Björkhem I. Diagnostic power of 24S-hydroxycholesterol in cerebrospinal fluid: candidate marker of brain health. J Alzheimers Dis. 2013; 36(4):739-747.
- 122. Li S-C, Papenberg G, Nagel IE, Preuschof C, Schröder J, Nietfeld W, et al. Aging magnifies the effects of dopamine transporter and D2 receptor genes on backward serial memory. Neurobiol Aging. 2013; 3(1)4: 358.e1-10.
- C. Metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease among elderly people in rural China: a populationbased study. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2013; 61(6):1036-1038.
- 124. Liu T, Li SC, Papenberg G, Schröder J, Roehr J T, Nietfeld W, Lindenberger U, Bertram L. No association between CTNNBL1 and episodic memory performance. Transl Psychiatry. 2014; 4:e454.
- 125. Lundqvist D, Svärd J, Fischer H. Age-related differences in sensitivity to emotional facial stimuli but age-independent association between arousal ratings and visual search efficiency. Psychological Topics. 2013; 22(2): 271-286.

- 126. Lövdén M, Köhncke Y, Laukka EJ, Kalpouzos G, Salami A, Li TQ, Fratiglioni L, Bäckman L. Changes in perceptual speed and white matter microstructure in the corticospinal tract are associated in very old age. Neuroimage. 2014; 102 Pt 2:520-30.
- 127. Lövdén M, Laukka EJ, Rieckmann A, Kalpouzos G, Li T-Q, Jonsson T, et al. The dimensionality of betweenperson differences in white matter microstructure in old age. Hum Brain Mapp. 2013; 34(6):1386-1398.
- 128. Maass A, ..., Lövden M, ..., Bäckman L, et al. Vascular hippocampal plasticity after aerobic exercise for older adults. Mol Psychiatry. 2014 Oct 14.
- 129. Mangialasche F, Baglioni M, Cecchetti R, Kivipelto M, Ruggiero C, Piobbico D, et al. Lymphocytic mitochondrial aconitase activity is reduced in Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment. J Alzheimers Dis. 2015; 44(2):649-60.
- 130. Mangialasche F, Solomon A, Kåreholt I, Hooshmand B, Cecchetti R, Fratiglioni L, et al. Serum levels of vitamin E forms and risk of cognitive impairment in a Finnish cohort of older adults. Exp Gerontol. 2013; 48(12):1428-1435.
- 131. Mangialasche F, Westman E, Kivipelto M, Muehlboeck JS, Cecchetti R, Baglioni M, et al. The AddNeuroMed consortium. Classification and prediction of clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease based on MRI and plasma measures of α -/y-tocotrienols and y-tocopherol. J Intern Med. 2013; 273(6):602-621.
- 132. Mousavi M, Jonsson P, Antti H, Adolfsson R, Nordin A, Bergdahl J, Eriksson K, Moritz T, Nilsson LG, Nyberg L. Serum metabolomic biomarkers of dementia. Dement Geriatr Cogn Dis Extra. 2014; 4(2):252-62.
- 133. Mousavi-Nasab SM, Kormi-Nouri R, Nilsson LG. Examination of the bidirectional influences of leisure activity and memory in old people: a dissociative effect on episodic memory. Br J Psychol. 2014; 105(3):382-98.
- 134. Ngandu T, ..., Bäckman L, ..., Mangialasche F, ..., Kivipelto M, et al. A 2 year multidomain intervention of diet, exercise, cognitive training, and vascular risk monitoring versus control to prevent cognitive decline in at-risk elderly people (FINGER): a randomised

controlled trial. Lancet. 2015 Mar 11 [in press:online]

- 135. Ngandu T, ..., Solomon A, ..., Mangialasche F, ..., Kivipelto M, et al. Recruitment and baseline characteristics of participants in the Finnish Geriatric Intervention Study to Prevent Cognitive Impairment and Disability (FINGER) - a randomized controlled lifestyle trial. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2014; 11(9):9345-60.
- 136. Noack H, Lövdén M, Schmiedek H. On the validity and generality of transfer effects in cognitive training research. Psychol Res. 2014; 78(6):773-89.
- 137. Nyberg L, Andersson M, Kauppi K, Lundquist A, Persson J, Pudas S, et al. Age-Related and Genetic Modulation of Frontal-Cortex Efficiency. J Cogn Neurosci. 2014; 26(4):746-54.
- 138. Nyberg L, Salami A. The APOE e4 allele in relation to brain white-matter microstructure in adulthood and aging. Scand J Psychol. 2014; 55(3):263-7.
- 139. Palmer K, Kabir ZN, Ahmed T, Hamadani JD, Cornelius C, Kivipelto M, Wahlin A. Prevalence of dementia and factors associated with dementia in rural Bangladesh: data from a cross-sectional, population-based study. Int Psychogeriatr. 2014; 26(11):1905-15.
- 140. Pantzar A, Laukka EJ, Atti AR, Fastbom J, Fratiglioni L, Bäckman L. Cognitive deficits in unipolar old-age depression: A population-based study. Psychol Med. 2014; 44(5):937-47.
- 141. Pantzar A, Laukka EJ, Atti AR, Papenberg G, Keller L, Graff C, Fratiglioni L, Bäckman L. Interactive effects of KIBRA and CLSTN2 polymorphisms on episodic memory in old-age unipolar depression. Neuropsychologia. 2014; 62:137-42.
- 142. Papenberg G, Bäckman L, Nagel IE, Nietfeld W, Biesenack J, Bertram L, et al. Dopaminergic gene polymorphisms affect long-term forgetting in old age: Further support for the magnification hypothesis. *)* Cognitive Neurosci. 2013; 25(4):571-9.
- 143. Papenberg G, Bäckman L, Nagel IE, Nietfeld W, Schröder J, Bertram L, et al. COMT polymorphism and memory dedifferentiation in old age. Psychol Aging. 2014; 29(2):374-83.

- 144. Papenberg G, Li SC, Nagel IE, Nietfeld W, Schjeide BM, Schröder J, et al. Dopamine and glutamate receptor genes interactively influence episodic memory in old age. *Neurobiol Aging*. 2014; 35(5):1213.e3-8.
- 145. Papenberg G, Lövdén M, Laukka EJ, Kalpouzos G, Keller L, Graff C, Köhncke Y, Li TQ, Fratiglioni L, Bäckman L. Magnified effects of the COMT gene on white-matter microstructure in very old age. *Brain Struct Funct*. 2014 Jul 24.
- 146. Persson J, Pudas S, Nilsson L G, Nyberg L. Longitudinal assessment of default-mode function in aging. *Neurobiol Aging*. 2014; 35(9):2107-17.
- 147. Persson J, Rieckmann A, Kalpouzos G, Fischer H, Bäckman L. Influences of a DRD2 polymorphism on updating of long-term memory representations and caudate BOLD activity: Magnification in aging. *Hum Brain Mapp.* 2014 [in press:online].
- 148. Petersen RC, Caracciolo B, Brayne C, Gauthier S, Jelic V, Fratiglioni L. Mild cognitive impairment: a concept in evolution. *J Intern Med.* 2014; 275(3):214-28.
- 149. Petersson S, Mathillas J, Wallin K, Olofsson B, Allard P, Gustafson Y. Risk factors for depressive disorders in very old age: a population-based cohort study with a 5-year follow-up. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* 2014; 49(5):831-9.
- 150. Plavén-Sigray P, Gustavsson P, Farde L, Borg J, Stenkrona P, Nyberg L, Bäckman L, Cervenka S. Dopamine D1 receptor availability is related to social behavior: A positron emission tomography study. *Neuroimage.* 2014; 102P2, 590-595.
- 151. Pudas S, Persson J, Josefsson M, de Luna X, Nilsson LG, Nyberg L. Brain characteristics of individuals resisting age-related cognitive decline over two decades. *J Neurosci.* 2013; 33(20):8668-8677.
- 152. Qiu C, Sigurdsson S, Zhang Q, Jonsdottir MK, Kjartansson O, Eiriksdottir G, et al. Diabetes, markers of brain pathology, and cognitive function: the Age, Gene/Environment Susceptibility-Reykjavik Study. *Ann Neurol.* 2014; 75(1):138-46.
- 153. Qiu C, von Strauss E, Bäckman L, Winblad B, Fratiglioni L. 20-year changes in dementia occurrence

suggest decreasing incidence in central Stockholm, Sweden. *Neurology*. 2013; 80:1888-1894.

- 154. Raz N, Schmiedek F, Rodrigue KM, Kennedy KM, Lindenberger U, Lövdén M. Differential brain shrinkage over six months shows limited association with cognitive practice. *Brain Cogn.* 2013; 82(2):171-180.
- 155. Rusanen M, Kivipelto M, Levälahti E, Laatikainen T, Tuomilehto J, Soininen H, Ngandu T. Heart diseases and long-term risk of dementia and Alzheimer's disease: a population-based CAIDE study. *J Alzheimers Dis.* 2014; 42(1):183-91.
- 156. Rusanen M, Ngandu T, Laatikainen T, Tuomilehto J, Soininen H, Kivipelto M. Chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases and asthma and the risk of mild cognitive impairment and dementia: a population based CAIDE study. *Curr Alzheimer Res.* 2013; 10(5):549-555.
- 157. Salami A, Pudas S, Nyberg L. Elevated hippocampal resting-state connectivity underlies deficient neurocognitive function in aging. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2014; 111(49):17654-9.
- 158. Salami A, Rieckmann A, Fischer H, Bäckman L. A multivariate analysis of age-related differences in functional networks supporting conflict resolution. *Neuroimage*. 2014; 86:150-163.
- 159. Schmiedek F, Lövdén M, Lindenberger U. Keeping it steady: Older adults perform more consistently on cognitive tasks than younger adults. *Psychol Sci.* 2013; 24(9):1747-1754.
- 160. Schmiedek F, Lövdén M, Lindenberger U. Younger adults show long-term effects of cognitive training on broad cognitive abilities over 2 years. *Dev Psychol.* 2014; 50(9):2304-10.
- 161. Schröder J, ..., Papenberg G, et al. MicroRNA-138 is a potential regulator of memory performance in humans. *Front Hum Neurosci.* 2014; 8:501.
- 162. Solomon A, Mangialasche F, Richard E, Andrieu S, Bennett DA, Breteler M, et al. Advances in the prevention of Alzheimer's disease and dementia. *J Intern Med.* 2014; 275(3):229-50.

- 163. Solomon A, Ngandu T, Soininen H, Hallikainen M, Kivipelto M, Laatikainen T. Validity of dementia and Alzheimer disease diagnoses in Finnish national registers. *Alzheimers Dement.* 2014; 10(3):303-9.
- 164. Svärd J, Fischer H, Lundqvist D. Adult age-differences in subjective impression of emotional faces are reflected in emotion-related attention and memory tasks. *Front Psychol.* 2014; 5:423.
- 165. Tolppanen AM, Lavikainen P, Solomon A, Kivipelto M, Soininen H, Hartikainen S. Incidence of stroke in people with Alzheimer disease: A national registerbased approach. *Neurology*. 2013; 80(4):353-8.
- 166. Tolppanen AM, Lavikainen P, Solomon A, Kivipelto M, Uusitupa M, Soininen H, Hartikainen S. History of medically treated diabetes and risk of Alzheimer disease in a nationwide case-control study. *Diabetes Care.* 2013; 36(7):2015-2019.
- 167. Tolppanen A-M, Ngandu T, Kåreholt I, Laatikainen T, Rusanen M, Soininen H, et al. Midlife and late-life body mass index and late-life dementia: results from a prospective population-based cohort. *J Alzheimers Dis.* 2014; 38(1): 201-209.
- 168. Tolppanen AM, Solomon A, Kulmala J, Kåreholt I, Ngandu T, Rusanen M, et al. Leisure-time physical activity from mid- to late life, body mass index, and risk of dementia. *Alzheimers Dement*. 2014 Apr 7.
- 169. Vuorinen M, Damangir S, Niskanen E, Miralbell J, Rusanen M, Spulber G, Soininen H, Kivipelto M, Solomon A. Coronary heart disease and cortical thickness, gray matter and white matter lesion volumes on MRI. *PLoS One.* 2014; 9(10):e109250.
- 170. Vuorinen M, Kåreholt I, Julkunen V, Spulber G, Niskanen E, Paajanen T, et al. Changes in vascular factors 28 years from midlife and late-life cortical thickness. *Neurobiol Aging*. 2013; 34(1):100-109.
- 171. Wallin K, Boström G, Kivipelto M, Gustafson Y. Risk factors for incident dementia in the very old. *Int Psychogeriatr.* 2013; 25(7):1135-1143.
- 172. Wang R, Fratiglioni L, Laveskog A, Kalpouzos G, Ehrenkrona CH, Zhang Y, Bronge L, Wahlund LO, Bäckman L, Qiu C. Do cardiovascular risk factors explain the link between white matter hyperintensities

and brain volumes in old age? A population-based study. *Eur J Neurol.* 2014; 21(8):1076-1082.

- 173. Wang R, Fratiglioni L, Laukka EJ, Lövdén M, Kalpouzos G, Keller L, Graff C, Salami A, Bäckman L, Qiu C. Effects of vascular risk factors and APOE ɛ4 on white matter integrity and cognitive decline. *Neurology*. 2015 Feb 11.
- 174. Weber D, Skirbekk V, Freund I, Herlitz A. The changing face of cognitive gender differences in Europe. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2014; 111(32):11673-8.
- 175. Wenger E, Mårtensson J, Noack H, Bodammer NC, Kühn S, Schaefer S, et al. Comparing manual and automatic segmentation of hippocampal volumes: reliability and validity issues in younger and older brains. *Hum Brain Mapp.* 2014; 35(8):4236-48.
- 176. Werkle-Bergner M, Grandy TH, Chicherio C, Schmiedek F, Lövdén M, Lindenberger U. Coordinated within-trial dynamics of low-frequency neural rhythms controls evidence accumulation. J Neurosci. 2014; 34(25):8519-28.
- 177. Xu WL, Caracciolo B, Wang HX, Santoni G, Winblad B, Fratiglioni L. Accelerated progression from mild cognitive impairment to dementia among APOE $\epsilon 4\epsilon 4$ carriers. *J Alzheimers Dis.* 2013; 33(2):507-15.
- 178. Xu Z, Qi X, Dahl A, Xu WL. Waist-to-height ratio is the best indicator for undiagnosed Type 2 diabetes. *Diabetic Med.* 2013; 30(6):e201-e207.
- 179. Zhang H, Xu WL, Dahl A, Xu Z, Wang HX, Qi X. Relation of socio-economic status to impaired fasting glucose and Type 2 diabetes: findings based on a large population-based cross-sectional study in Tianjin, China. *Diabetic Med.* 2013; 30(5):e157-62.
- 180. Ziaei M, Peira N, Persson J. Brain systems underlying attentional control and emotional distraction during working memory encoding. *Neuroimage*. 2014; 87:276-286.

E. Miscellaneous

- 181. Ahacic K, Kennison R, Kåreholt I. Alcohol abstinence, non-hazardous use, and hazardous use a decade after alcohol-related hospitalization: registry data linked to population-based representative postal survey. *BMC Public Health.* 2014; 14:874.
- 182. Ahacic K, Kåreholt I, Helgason AR, Allebeck P. Nonresponse bias and hazardous alcohol use in relation to previous alcohol-related hospitalization: Comparing survey responses with population data. *Subst Abuse Treat Pr.* 2013; 8:10.
- 183. Brose A, Voelkle MC, Lövdén M, Lindenberger U, Schmiedek F. Differences in the between-person and within-person structures of affect are a matter of degree. *Eur J Pers.* 2014; 29, 55–71.
- 184. Eklund JM, Fritzell J. Keeping delinquency at bay: The role of the school context for impulsive and sensationseeking adolescents. *European Journal of Criminology*. 2014; 11: 682-701.
- 185. Hedenius M, Persson J, Alm PA, Ullman MT, Howard Jr JH, Howard DV, et al. Impaired implicit sequence learning in children with developmental dyslexia. *Res Dev Disabil.* 2013; 34(11):3924-3935.
- 186. Herlitz A, Reuterskiöld L, Lovén J, Thilers PP, Rehnman J. Cognitive sex differences are not magnified as a function of age, sex hormones, or puberty development during early adolescence. *Dev Neuropsychol.* 2013; 38(3):167-179.
- 187. Hökerberg YHM, Reichenheim ME, Faerstein E, Passos SRL, Fritzell J, Toivanen S, Westerlund H. Cross-cultural validity of the demand-control questionnaire: Swedish and Brazilian workers. *Rev Saúde Pública*. 2014; 48: 486-496.
- 188. Kalpouzos G, Eriksson J. Memory self-efficacy beliefs modulate brain activity when encoding real-world future intentions. *PLoS One*. 2013; 8(9): e73850.
- 189. Kelfve S, Thorslund M, Lennartsson C. Sampling and non-response bias on health outcomes in surveys of the oldest old. *Eur J Ageing*. 2013; 10(3):237-245.
- 190. Laukka EJ, Starr JM, Deary IJ. Lower ankle-brachial index is related to worse cognitive performance in old age. *Neuropsychology*. 2014; 28(2):281-9.

- 191. Lovén J, Svärd J, Ebner NC, Herlitz A, Fischer H. Face gender modulates women's brain activity during face encoding. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci.* 2014; 9(7):1000-5.
- 192. Lövheim H, Gilthorpe J, Adolfsson R, Nilsson LG, Elgh F. Reactivated herpes simplex infection increases the risk of Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement*. 2014 Jul 17.
- 193. Mattli F, Schnitzspahn K, Studerus-Germann A, Brehmer Y, Zoellig J. Prospective memory across the lifespan: Investigating the contribution of retrospective and prospective processes. *Neuropsychol Dev Cogn B Aging Neuropsychol Cogn.* 2014; 21(5):515-43.
- 194. Persson J, Herlitz A, Engman J, Morell A, Sjölie D, Wikström J, et al. Remembering our origin: Gender differences in spatial memory are reflected in gender differences in hippocampal lateralization. *Behav Brain Res.* 2013; 256:219-228.
- 195. Persson J, Larsson A, Reuter-Lorenz PA. Imaging fatigue of interference control reveals the neural basis of executive resource depletion. *J Cognitive Neurosci.* 2013; 25(3):338-51.
- 196. Seubert J, Ohla K, Yokomukai Y, Kellermann T, Lundström JN. Superadditive opercular activation to food flavor is mediated by enhanced temporal and limbic coupling. *Hum Brain Mapp.* 2014 Dec 26 [in press:online].
- 197. Soveri A, Tallus J, Laine M, Nyberg L, Bäckman L, Hugdahl K, et al. Modulation of auditory attention by training: evidence from dichotic listening. *Exp Psychol.* 2013; 60: 44-52.

Review articles

- A. Longevity, morbidity and functioning
- 198. Kivipelto M, Mangialasche F. To what extent can Alzheimer disease be prevented? *Nat Rev Neurol.* 2014; 10(10):552-3.
- 199. Lambert MA, Bickel H, Prince M, Fratiglioni L, Von Strauss E, Frydecka D, et al. Estimating the burden of early onset dementia; systematic review of disease prevalence. *Eur J Neurol.* 2014; 21(4):563-9.

 Rizzuto D, Fratiglioni L. Lifestyle factors related to mortality and survival: a mini-review. *Gerontology*. 2014; 60(4):327-35.

B. Treatment and care of elderly persons

- 201. Gnjidic D, Johnell K. Clinical implications from drugdrug and drug-disease interactions in older people. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol.* 2013; 40(5): 320–325.
- 202. Tannenbaum C, Johnell K. Managing therapeutic competition in patients with heart failure, lower urinary tract symptoms and incontinence. *Drugs Aging.* 2014; 31(2):93-101.

C. Health trends and inequality

203. Parker MG. Health trends and health indicators. In Bode and Scheidt-Nave (eds): European Workshop on Health and Disability Surveillance in Ageing Populations (EUWAP). BMC Proceedings. 2013; 7(Suppl 4): S6.

D. Brain aging

- 204. Brehmer Y, Kalpouzos G, Wenger E, Lövdén M. Plasticity of brain and cognition in older adults. *Psychol Res.* 2014; 78(6):790-802.
- 205. Bäckman L, Nyberg L. Dopamine and training-related working-memory improvement. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 2013; 37(9):2209-2219.
- 206. Caracciolo B, Xu W, Collins S, Fratiglioni L. Cognitive decline, dietary factors and gut-brain interactions. *Mech Ageing Dev.* 2014; 136-137:59-69.
- 207. Imtiaz B, Tolppanen AM, Kivipelto M, Soininen H. Future directions in Alzheimer's disease from risk factors to prevention. *Biochem Pharmacol.* 2014; 88(4):661-70.
- 208. Kivipelto M, Mangialasche F, Solomon A, Johansson G, Lannfelt L, Fratiglioni L, et al. Introduction: 9th Key symposium introduction: Updating Alzheimer's disease diagnosis implications for prevention and treatment. *J Intern Med.* 2014; 275(3):202-203.

- 209. Kivipelto M, Solomon A, Ahtiluoto S, Ngandu T, Lehtisalo J, Antikainen R, et al. The Finnish Geriatric Intervention Study to prevent cognitive impairment and disability (FINGER): study design and progress. *Alzheimers Dement*. 2013; 9(6):657-665.
- 210. Kivipelto M, Solomon A, Ngandu T, Håkansson K, Winblad B. Fokus på tidig diagnos och förebyggande i Alzheimerforskning. *Finska Läkarsällskapets handlingar.* 2013; 173(2):11-19.
- 211. Lövdén M, Wenger E, Mårtensson J, Lindenberger U, Bäckman L. Structural brain plasticity in adult learning and development. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 2013; 37(9): 2296–2310.
- 212. Lövdén M, Xu X, Wang H-X. Lifestyle change and the prevention of cognitive decline and dementia: What is the evidence? *Curr Opin Psychiatr.* 2013; 26(3):239-43.
- 213. Nevalainen N, Riklund K, Andersson M, Axelsson J, Ögren M, Lövdén M, Lindenberger U, Bäckman L, Nyberg L. COBRA: A prospective multimodal imaging study of dopamine, brain structure and function, and cognition. *Brain Res.* 2014 Sep 17 [in press:online].
- 214. Schneider LS, Mangialasche F, Andreasen N, Feldman H, Giacobini E, Jones R, et al. Clinical trials and late-stage drug development for Alzheimer's disease: an appraisal from 1984 to 2014. *J Intern Med.* 2014; 275(3):251-283.
- 215. Solomon A, Kivipelto M, Soininen H. Prevention of Alzheimer's disease: moving backward through the lifespan. *J Alzheimers Dis.* 2013; 33: 1:S465-9.
- 216. Qiu C, Fratiglioni L. A major role for cardiovascular burden in age-related cognitive decline. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* 2015 Jan 13.

E. Miscellaneous

217. Herlitz A, Lovén J. Sex differences and the own-gender bias in face recognition: A meta-analytic review. *Vis Cogn.* 2013; 21(9-10):1306-1336.

Book chapters

- A. Longevity, morbidity and functioning
- 218. Herlitz A, Dekhtyar S. A life-span approach to dementia. In: Ohta N, Nilsson L-G, editors. Dementia & Memory. *New York: Psychology Press.* 2014; p. 110-123.
- 219. Qiu C. Lifestyle factors in the prevention of dementia: A life-course perspective. In: Leist AK, Kulmala J, Nyqvist F, editors. Health and Well-Being in Old Age: From Biomedical and Life Course Factors to Policy and Practice. *Springer International Publishing Switzerland*. 2014; p. 161-178.

B. Treatment and care of elderly persons

- 220. Fastbom J. Läkemedel och Äldre. In: Nilsson LG, editor. Enligt ordination – Om bättre läkemedelsanvändning. *Lund: Studentlitteratur AB*. 2014; p. 51-72.
- 221. Johansson L, Thorslund M. Samverkan i vården och omsorgen om de äldre - en evig fråga. In R. Axelsson & S. Bihari Axelsson (Red.), Om samverkan - för utveckling av hälsa och välfärd. *Lund: Studentlitteratur AB*. 2013.
- 222. Thorslund M. Dagens och morgondagens vård och omsorg. Om gapet mellan behov och resurser. In: Andersson L, editor. Socialgerontologi. *Lund: Studentlitteratur AB*. 2013; p. 279-304.
- 223. Thorslund M. Äldreomsorgens dramatiska utveckling: – om dilemman och målkonflikter. In: Pettersson U, editor. Etik och socialtjänst. *Stockholm: Gothia*. 2013; p. 91-113.

C. Health trends and inequality

- 224. Campbell JC, ..., Johansson L, et al. How different countries allocate LTC benefits to users: Changes over time. In: Fernandez JL, Gori C, Wittenberg R, editors. Long-term care reforms in OECD countries: Successes and failures. *London: Policy Press*. Forthcoming in 2015.
- 225. Fritzell, J. Health inequality and social justice. In: Reisch M, editor. The Routledge International

Handbook of Social Justice. *London: Routledge*. 2014; p. 339-352.

- 226. Fritzell, J, Bacchus Hertzman J, Bäckman O, Borg I, Ferrarini T, Nelson K. Sweden: increasing income inequalities and changing social relations. In: Nolan B, Salverda W, Checchi D, Marx I, McKnight A, György Toth I, van de Werfhorst HG, editors. Changing inequalities and societal impacts in rich countries. Thirty countries' experiences. *Oxford: Oxford University Press.* 2014; chap. 27.
- 227. Parker M. Hälsa hos äldre med fokus på socioekonomisk position. In: Andersson L, editor. Socialgerontologi. *Lund: Studentlitteratur AB*. 2013; p.305-327.
- 228. Schneider U, Sundström G, Johansson L, Tortosa MA. Policies to support informal care. In: Fernandez JL, Gori C, Wittenberg R, editors. Long-term care reforms in OECD countries: successes and failures. *London: Policy Press.* Forthcoming in 2015.
- 229. Sigurdardottir S, Kåreholt I. Factors associated with informal and formal care of older Icelandic people. In: Sigurdardottir S, editor. Patterns of care and support in old age. (Doctoral thesis.) *Jönköping: Jönköping University, School of Health Science, HHJ.* 2013.
- 230. Sundström G, Thorslund M. Healthy aging in Sweden. In: Scharlach A, Hoshino K, editors. Healthy aging in sociocultural context. *New York: Routledge Press.* 2013; p. 33-41.

D. Brain aging

- 231. Fratiglioni L, Kivipelto M, Qiu CX. Epidemiologi. In: Nordberg A, editor. Alzheimers sjukdom. *Lund: Studentlitteratur AB*. 2013; p. 37-48.
- 232. Fratiglioni L, Qiu C. Epidemiology of dementia. In: Dening T, Thomas A, editors. The Oxford Textbook of Old Age Psychiatry (5th Edition). *New York: Oxford University Press Inc.* 2013; p. 389-413.
- 233. Solomon A, Kivipelto M. Cholesterol, Statins, and Late-life cognitive disorders. In: Yaffe C, editor. Chronic Medical Disease and Cognitive Aging: Toward a Healthy Body and Brain. New York: Oxford University Press Inc. 2013; p. 13-40.

234. Sjölie D, Kalpouzos G, Eriksson J. Neural correlates of disrupted presence: strange disruptions in a naturalistic virtual environment. In: Nojima D, Reiners, Staadt O, editors. International Conference on Artificial Reality and Telexistence: Eurographics Symposium on Virtual Environments 2014 (ICAT-EGVE 2014). [In press: accepted for publication]. *The Eurographics Association [Internet]*; 2014.

Reports

- B. Treatment and care of elderly persons
- 235. Fastbom et al. Läkemedelsorsakad sjuklighet hos äldre
 Kartläggning och förslag till åtgärder. Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen. 2014; 2014-12-13.
- 236. Fastbom et al. Nationell utvärdering Vård och omsorg vid demenssjukdom 2014 – Indikatorer och underlag för bedömningar. *Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen.* 2014; 2014-2-1.
- 237. Hagman L, Johansson L, Wånell SE, Thorslund M. Försöksprojekt och nätverk för en bättre samverkan i vården och omsorgen om de mest sjuka äldre. Slutrapport. *Stockholm: Aging Research Center/ Stiftelsen Stockholms läns Äldrecentrum.* 2014.
- C. Health trends and inequality
- 238. Wimo A, Fratiglioni K, Sköldunger A. Demenssjukdomarnas samhällskostnader i Sverige 2012. *Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen.* 2014; 2014-6-3.
- D. Brain aging
- 239. Fastbom J, Fors S, Lövdén M. Forskning i korthet: Åldrande och minne. *Stockholm: Forte.* 2014.
- 240. Sjölie D, Kalpouzos G, Eriksson J. Capturing neural correlates of disrupted presence in a naturalistic virtual environment. *Umeå: Umeå University.* 2013; UMINF 13:05.

Doctoral dissertations

- A. Longevity, morbidity and functioning
- 241. Rizzuto, D. Living longer than expected: protective and risk factors related to human longevity [PhD Thesis]. *Stockholm: Karolinska Institutet*. 2013.
- C. Health trends and inequality
- 242. Sjölund B-M. Physical functioning in old age: Temporal trends and geographical variation in Sweden. [PhD Thesis]. *Stockholm: Karolinska Institutet*. 2014.
- 243. Wastesson J. Unequal drug treatment: age and educational differences among older adults. [PhD Thesis]. *Stockholm: Karolinska Institutet*. 2014.
- D. Brain aging
- 244. Hooshmand, B. The impact of homocysteine and B vitamins on Alzheimer's disease, cognitive performance and structural brain changes [PhD Thesis]. *Stockholm: Karolinska Institutet*. 2013.

2013	Date	Speaker	Title
	April 23	Sally Brailsford , Professor University of Southampton	Using simulation and modelling to improve social care systems: the UK experience
	April 25	Marja Jylhä , Professor School of Health Sciences, University of Tampere	What do older people know about their health and how? Self-rated health at the crossroads between biology, psychology and the social world
	May 8	Naftali Raz , Professor Institute of Gerontology, Wayne State University, Detroit	Fine Structure and Heavy Metal: Getting Closer to our Aging Brain
	Sept 26	Sudha Seshadri , Professor of Neurology Boston University School of Medicine, Senior Investigator, the Framingham Study	 Overview of neurological research in the Framingham Heart Study and CHARGE consortium Genetics of Alzheimer Disease Challenges in Identifying Biomarkers for Alzheimer Disease
	Oct 10	Kenneth Hugdahl , Professor University of Bergen	Auditory hallucinations in schizophrenia: From cognition to brain systems
	Nov 12	Azita Emami , Professor, Dean of Nursing University of Washington, Seattle	Diversity among eldercare providers

2014	Date	Speaker	
	Feb 27	Cara Tannenbaum , Associate Professor University of Montreal	
	March 17	Jinglong Wu , Professor Biomedical Engineering Laboratory, Graduate School of Natural Science and Technology, Okayama University	
	April 1	Agnes Flöel , Professor NeuroCure Clinical Research Center, Charité	
	Sept 26	Jo Phelan , Professor Columbia University Bruce Link , Professor Columbia University and New York State Psychiatric Institute	
	Oct 9	Bob Logie , Professor University of Edinburg	

Biology of Aging

2013	Date	Speaker	
	Oct 3	Angel Cedazo Minguez , Associate Professor Neurogeriatrics, KI, Center for Alzheimer Research	
	Oct 20	Nancy Pedersen , Professor Department of Medical Epidemiology and Biostatistics, KI	
	Dec 17	Thomas Nyström , Professor Department of Chemistry & Molecular Biology, University of Gothenburg	

Title

Continence across Continents - an international RCT to increase healthy life expectancy

New Devices for Human Brain Mapping and Early Detection of Alzheimer's Disease

Lifestyle interventions and noninvasive brain stimulation for the aging brain

Social conditions as fundamental causes of health inequalities: theory, evidence, and policy implications

When cognitive performance does not decline across the lifespan

Title

Towards debunking myths and understanding risks for Alzheimer disease

Where genes come into theories of (neuro)biology of aging

The biology of aging and the search for aging factors using model systems

Guest researchers

Overview of number of employees per sector and per level

2013

- **Åke Wahlin**, Professor, Stockholm University. At ARC: 1 December 2012 to 31 August 2013. Host: Lars Bäckman.
- **Doug Garrett**, Postdoc, Max Planck Institutet, Berlin. At ARC: 7–8 February 2013. Host: Lars Bäckman.
- Clement Pimouguet, Postdoc, University of Bordeaux. At ARC: February-July. Hosts: Weili Xu and Laura Fratiglioni.
- Marja Jylhä, Professor, University of Tampere. At ARC: 22–26 April. Host: Mats Thorslund.
- Benjamin Shaw, Professor, University at Albany. At ARC: 15–26 April. Host: Neda Agahi.
- **Naftali Raz**, Professor, Wayne State University. At ARC: 8-13 May. Host: L Bäckman.
- Hiram Beltrán-Sánchez, PhD, Harvard University. At ARC: May. Host: N Agahi.
- **Steven Zarit**, Distinguished Professor, Penn State University and Adjunct Professor, Högskolan i Jönköping. At ARC: 20–21 May. Host: Ingemar Kåreholt.
- Merril Silverstein, Professor, University of Southern California. At ARC: May–June. Host: Mats Thorslund.
- Ross Andel, Associate Professor, University of South Florida. At ARC: 10–19 June. Host: Ingemar Kåreholt.
- **Kuo-Chen Huang**, MD, PhD, National Taiwan University. At ARC: 21 June–11 September. Host: Marti Parker.
- Anna Marseglia, Psychologist, Institute of Neuroscience, Padua, Italy. At ARC: August-December. Hosts: Weili Xu and Laura Fratiglioni.
- **Kuo-Chen Huang**, National Taiwan University. At ARC: 21 June-11 September. Host: Marti Parker.
- Danijela Gnjidic, University of Sydney. At ARC: 2-13 September. Host: Kristina Johnell.
- Mario Meloni, MD, resident in Neurology in Italy. At ARC: December 2013 to June 2014. Hosts: Laura Fratiglioni and Barbara Caracciolo.

2014

- Roger Keller Celeste, CD, MSc, PhD, Chefe do Departamento de Odontologia Preventiva e Social Faculdade de Odontologia. At ARC: 20 January to 20 March. Host: Johan Fritzell.
- Merike Verrijp, Master student, Amsterdam University. At ARC: February-July 2014. Hosts: Miia Kivipelto, Francesca Mangialasche, and Göran Hagman.
- **Anna Laveskog**, PhD student, Neuroradiologin Karolinska University Hospital. At ARC: 28 April-13 June. Host: Chengxuan Qiu.
- Maryam Ziaei, PhD student, University of Queensland. At ARC: 14 April-1 May. Host: Jonas Persson.
- **Ross Andel**, Associate Professor, University of Southern Florida. At ARC: 8-17 June. Host: Ingmar Kåreholt.
- Merril Silverstein, Professor, University of Southern California. At ARC: 12-19 June. Host: Mats Thorslund.
- Vern Bengtsson, Adjunct Professor, University of Southern California School of Social Work. At ARC: 2-3 June. Host: Marti Parker.
- Barbara Wimmer, PhD student, Monash University. At ARC: 1 June-31 October. Host: Kristina Johnell.
- Milan Chang Guðjónsson, PhD, Island, At ARC: 14-17
 October. Hosts: Marti Parker and Anna-Karin Welmer.
- Anna Rosenberg, Master's student from the University of Turku. At ARC: Septemer 2014-February 2015. Host: Miia Kivipelto.
- Joana Almeida Palha, Professor from the University of Minho. At ARC: September 2014 – December 2015. Host: Miia Kivipelto.
- Junfang Xu, PhD student, Shandong University. At ARC: October 2014 to October 2015. Host: Chengxuan Qiu.

Sector Medicine N=29	Sector Psychology N=29	Sector Social Gerontology N=26
 3 Professors 3 Senior lecturers 2 Research associates 7 Post docs 11 PhD students 2 Research assistants 1 Scientific coordinator 	 3 Professors 2 Researchers 4 Research associates 6 Post docs 9 PhD students 3 Research assistants 1 Scientific coordinator 1 Research engineer 	 4 Professors 1 Senior lecturer 3 Researchers 1 Research associate 3 Post docs 7 PhD students 5 Research assistants 1 Scientific coordinator 1 Project manager

Database group 2 database managers Administrative group 3 administrative staff 2 coordination, communication



Aging Research Center

Karolinska Institutet/Stockholm University Gävlegatan 16 S-113 30 Stockholm Phone: +46 8 690 5823 Fax: +46 8 690 6889 www.ki-su-arc.se

In close collaboration with





